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GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
DIRECTORS' REPORT

The directors present their annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2022.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company continued to be that of a holding company. A list of subsidiaries is included
in note 11. The directors do not anticipate any change in the activity of the Company in the foreseeable future.

Results

The results for the year are set out on page 9.

Directors
The following were directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of signature of these accounts:

Valery Kisilevsky
Gary Howard Narunsky H Appointed 2 September 2021
Arkady Etingen i Resigned 4 March 2022

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the finangial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law
the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the company and; of the profit or loss of the company for that peried. In preparing
these financial statements, the directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether all applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

= prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Statement of disclosure to auditor

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the company’s auditor is unaware. Additionally, the directors individually have taken all the
necessary steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of all relevant
audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that information.



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Small companies exemption

In preparing the Directors' Report, advantage has been taken of the small companies exemption under the
Companies Act 2006. As a result of this exemption, the Company is not required to prepare a strategic report.

On behalf of the board

& /L,/'
Mr Valery Kisilevsky
Director

Date: 21 July 2023



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Global Academic Holdings Ltd (‘the company') for the year ended
31 May 2022 which comprise the profit and loss account, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in equity
and notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including
Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

* give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 May 2022 and of its loss for the year
then ended:;

+ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;
and

» have peen prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (1ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our ‘'audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and apprepriate to provide a basis for our
opinian,

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Based on the work we have performed,
we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively,
may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve
months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. Our responsibilities and the responsibilities
of the directors with respect tp going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial statements
and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the
annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other infermation and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our respansibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS L.TD

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GLCBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
(continued)

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In cur opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

¢ the infermation given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
+ the directors’' report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the directors' report. We have nothing to report in
respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in
our opinion:

= adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for cur audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small companies
regime and take advantage of the small companies' exemption in preparing the directors' report and from
the requirement to prepare a strategic report.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for. being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
50.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
{continued)

The extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities including fraud

Our approach to identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities,
including fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations, was as follows:

e the senior statutory auditor ensured the engagement team collectively had the appropriate competence,
capabilities and skills to identify or recognise non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

+ we identified the laws and regulations applicable to the company through discussions with the directors and
other management, and from our knowledge and experience of the entity's activities;

+ we focused on specific laws and regulations which we considered may have a direct material effect on the
financial statements or the operations of the company including Companies Act 2006 and taxation
legislation;

« we assessed the extent of compliance with the laws and regulations identified above through making
enquiries of management and reviewing legal expenditure; and

» identified laws and regulations were communicated within the audit team regularly and the team remained
alert to instances of non-compliance throughout the audit.

We assessed the susceptibility of the company’s financial statements to material misstatement, including
obtaining an understanding of how fraud might occur, by:

+ making enquiries of management as to where they considered there was susceptibility to fraud, their
knowledge of actual, suspected and alleged fraud; and

= considering the internal controls in place to mitigate risks of fraud and non-compliance with laws and
regulations.

To address the risk of fraud through management bias and override of controls, we:

performed analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships;
tested journal entries to identify unusual transactions;

e assessed whether judgements and assumptions made in determining the accounting estimates were
indicative of potential bias; and

* investigated the rationale behind significant or unusual transactions.

In response to the risk of irregularities and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we designed procedures
which included, but were not limited to:

» agreeing financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation;
s reading the minutes of meetings of those charged with governance; and
s enquiring of management as to actual and potential litigation and claims.

There are inherent limitations in our audit procedures described above. The more removed that laws and
regulations are from financial transactions, the less likely it is that we would become aware of non-compliance.
Auditing standards also limit the audit procedures required to identify noncompliance with laws and regulations
to enquiry of the directors and other management and the inspection of regulatory and legal carrespondence, if
any.

Material misstatements that arise due to fraud can be harder to detect than those that arise from error as they
may involve deliberate concealment or collusion,

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: https://
www. frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of cur auditor's report.



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
(continued)

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken sa that we might state to the company's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Sachin Ramaiya (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Gravita Audit Limited

Chartered Accountant
Statutory Auditor

Finsgate

5 -7 Cranwood Street
London

EC1V 9EE

Date: 21 July 2023



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022

Administrative expenses

Operating loss

Taxation

L.oss for the year

!

Note

Year ended Period ended
31 May 31 May

2022 2021

£ £
(350,278,493) -
(350,278,493) -
(350,278,493} -

The profit and loss account has beeh prepared on the basis that all operations are continuing operations.



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MAY 2022

As at As at
31 May 31 May
2022 2021
Note £ £
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 4 346,000,201 1
Current assets
Other receivables ’ 5 1 1
Current liabilities
Trade and cther payables } 6 (696,278,694) (1)
Net current liabilities ; . (696,278,693) -
Net (liabilities)/assets, ! (350,278,492) 1
Equity
Called up share capital i 7 1 1
Retained earnings 3 - (350,278,493) -
Total equity ; i {350,278,492) 1

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies
subject to the small companies regime.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 21 July 2023 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Mr Valery Kisilevsky
Director
Company number: 12723686
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GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR TO 31 MAY 2022

Share Retained Total
capital earnings

£ £ £

Balance as at & July 2020 - - -
Issue of share capital 1 - 1
Balance as at 31 May 2021 1 - 1
Loss for the year - {350,278,493) {350,278,493)
Balance as at 31 May 2022 1 (350,278,493) {350,278,492)
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GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022

1. Accounting policies
Company information

Global Academic Holdings Ltd (‘the company') is a private company limited by shares incorporated and
domiciled in England and Wales. The address of its registered office is 30 Holborn, Buchanan House,
London, EC1N 2HS.

1.1 Reporting period

These financial statements cover the peried 1 June 2021 to 31 May 2022. The comparative results cover
the period from incorporation on'6 July 2020 to 31 May 2021 and so are not directly comparable.

1.2 Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” {(“FRS 102") and the requirements of the Companies
Act 20086.

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the company. Monetary
amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The principal accounting
policies adopted are set out below.

The company has taken advantage of Section 401 of the Companies Act 2006 not to prepare consolidated
accounts on the basis that the company’s results are included in the consolidated accounts for a larger
group, which is disclosed in Note 10.. These accounts therefore present infarmation about the company
and not its group.

1.3 Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which the Directors believe to be
appropriate for the following reason. The company is reliant on the support of other group companies as a
result of the way that the group is financed: Global University Systems Holding B.V. has agreed to continue
to provide financial and other support to the company for the foreseeable future to enable it to continue to
trade,

As a result, having assessed the response of the directors of Global University Systems Holding B.V., in
light of its support and on the basis of their assessment of the company's financial position and Glebal
University Systems Holding B.V.’s financial position, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the
company will be able to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

1.4 Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS 102

FRS 102 allows a qualifying entity certain disclosure exemptions, subject to conditions. The company has
taken advantage of the following exemptions in its individual financial statements:

« The Directors have applied the exemption available to qualifying entities in FRS 102 paragraph
1.12(b) from presenting a statement of cash flows;

+ from the financial instrument disclosures, required under FRS 102 paragraphs, 11.42, 11.44, 11.45,
11.47, 11.48(a)(iii}, 11.48(a)(iv), 11.48(b), 11.48(c), 12.26, 12.27, 12.29(=a}, 12.29(b) and 12.29A, as
the information is provided in the consolidated financial statement disclosures.

12



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022 (continued)

1.5 Fixed asset investments

Interests in subsidiaries are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. The investments are assessed for impairment at each reporting date and
any impairment losses or reversals of impairment losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the company. Control is the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

1.6 Financial instruments

The company has elected to apply the pravisions of Section 11 ‘Basic Financial Instruments’ and Section
12 ‘Other Financial Instruments Issues' of FRS 102 to all of its financial instruments.

Financial instruments are recognised in the company's balance sheet when the company becomes party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

_Financial assets and liabilities are offset, with the net amounts presented in the financial statements, when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultanecusly.

Basic financial assets

Basic financial assets, whijch include debtors and cash and bank balances, are initially measured at
transaction price including transaction ¢osts and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction
is measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. Financial
assels classified as receivable within one year are not amortised.

Classification of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the company after deducting all of its liabilities.

Basic financial liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including creditors, bank loans, loans from fellow group companies and preference
shares that are classified as debt, are initially recognised at transaction price unless the arrangement
constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the
future payments discounted at a market rate of interest. Financial liabilities classified as payable within one
year are not amortised.

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Amounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within ocne

year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade creditors are recognised initially at
transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

13



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022 (continued)

2 Judgements and key sources of uncertainty
In the application of the company’s accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumpticns are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisicns to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised where the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods where the revisicn affects both current and future
periods.
The key judgment made by the directors was in respect of potential impairment of the company’s investment
in subsidiaries. The directors performed an impairment assessment based on discounted future cash flows
of the respective subsidiaries and determined an impairment was required in respect of its investment in
GAH Holdco Ltd, as shown in Note 3.
3 Administrative expenses
Year ended Period ended
31 May 31 May
2022 2021
£ £
Legal and professionaf fees 377,969 -
Audit fees 8,000 -
Other operating expenses 59,8568 -
Divisional recharge 3,832,566 -
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries. 346,000,100 -
Total administrative expenses . 350,278,493 -
During the year, the Directors assessed the carrying value of the Company’s investment in GAH Holdco
Ltd. The investment value of £346m arose on the issue of share capital by GAH Holdco Ltd in the period in
relation to a Group recrganisation, and as this remained payable by Global Academic Holdings Ltd as at 31
May 2022, it was determined that it was appropriate to impair the investment at this time. Subsequent to
the year end, the Group reorganisation was completed and the payable due to GAH Holdco Ltd in relation
to the share issue was settled.
4 Investments in subsidiaries
As at As at
31 May 31 May
2022 2021
£ £
Investments in subsidiaries 346,000,201 1

14



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022 {continued)

Cost

As at 6 July 2020
Additions

As at 31 May 2021
Additions

As at 31 May 2022

Impairment

As at 6 July 2020
Charge

As at 31 May 2021
Charge

As at 31 May 2022

Carrying amount

At 31 May 2021
At 31 May 2022

Total

4

p
692,000,300

692,000,301

346,000,100

346,000,100

1

346,000,201

During the year, GAH Haldco Ltd issued 346,000,000 new shares and GAH Midco issued 348,000,100 new
shares to Global Academic Holdings Ltd as part of a group reorganisation. At the year-end, the
consideration was unsettled and therefore £692,000,100 is shown as payable to subsidiaries. As shown in
note 12, the consideration was settled 'subsequent to the year-end in March 2023. A list of investments in

subsidiaries is given in note 11.

5 Other receivables

Unpaid share capital

6 Trade and other payables

Trade payables

Amounts owed to subsidiaries
Amounts owed to group undertakings
Accruals

Total

As at As at

31 May 31 May
2022 2021
(restated)

£ £

1 1

As at As at

31 May 31 May
2022 2021

£ £

392 -
592,000,301 1
417,345 -
3,860,656 -
696,278,694 1
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GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022 (continued})

7 Called up share capital

Nominal Aggregate

No. value value
£ £

Authorised, issued and not fully paid
At 31 May 2021 1 1 1
At 31 May 2022 10,000 0.0001 1

On 5 October 2021, the company’s share'capital of 1 ordinary share of £1 nominal value was sub-divided
into 10,000 ordinary shares of £0.0001 each.

8 Related party transactions
The company has taken advantage of the exemption allowed in FRS 102 and has not disclosed details of
related party transactions with 100% owned entities within the group.

9 Directors and employees

The directors received no remuneration in the year in respect of their qualifying services to the Company
(2021: £nil).

There were no employees of the Company during the year (2021: nil).

10 Ultimate controlling party

The immediate parent undertaking is Global University Systems B.V, a company incorporated in The
Netherlands.

The ultimate controlling party is The Heritage Trust, registered in Guernsey.

The smallest group inte which the Company is consalidated is Global University Systems Holding B.V., a
company registered in The Netherlands and whose registered office is Passeerdersgracht 23, 1016XG
Amsterdam, The Netherlands. Its consolidated accounts are available for inspection by appointment at this
address.

11 Subsidiaries

At 31 May 2022, the Company directly owned the issued share capital of the following companies:

Name of undertaking Registered office Class of shares held % Held
GAH Holdco Ltd " England and Wales Ordinary 100%
GAH Education Holding Limited England and Wales Ordinary 100%
GAH Midco Ltd England and Wales Qrdinary 100%

The address of the registered office of these subsidiaries is the same as the Company.

16



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022 (continued)

12 Post balance sheet events

In March 2023, as part of a group reorganisation, the Company sold the entire share capital of GAH
Education Holding Limited to GAH Holdco Ltd for a consideration of £346m, settled by way of offset against
the consideration payable to GAH Holdco Ltd on the issue of new share capital issued. The Company
simultaneously lost control of GAH Holdco Ltd which became a subsidiary of GAH Midco Ltd.

17
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GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2022.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company continued to be that of a holding company. A list of subsidiaries is included
in note 11. The directors do not anticipate any change in the activity of the Company in the foreseeable future,

Results

The results for the year are set out on page 9.

Directors
The following were directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of signature of these accounts:

Valery Kisilevsky
Gary Howard Narunsky Appointed 2 September 2021
Arkady Etingen Resigned 4 March 2022

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual repert and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law
the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the directors are required to:

« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

+ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

+ state whether all applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any malerial departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business,

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Statement of disclosure to auditor

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the company’s auditor is unaware. Additionally, the directors individually have taken all the
necessary steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of all relevant
audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of that information,



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)

Small companies exemption

In preparing the Directors’ Report, advantage has been taken of the small companies exemption under the
Companies Act 2006. As a result of this exemption, the Company is hot required to prepare a strategic report.

On behalf of the board

- 4 )

Mr Valery Kisilevsky
Director

Date: 21 July 2023




GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Global Academic Holdings Ltd (‘the company') for the year ended
31 May 2022 which comprise the profit and loss account, the balance sheet, the statement of changes in equity
and notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including
Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland {United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

* give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 May 2022 and of its loss for the year
then ended,;

* have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;
and

« have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to cur audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion,

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Based on the work we have performed,
we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively,
may cast significant doubt an the company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve
months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. Our responsibilities and the responsibilities
of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

QOther information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial statements
and our auditor's report thereon, The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the
annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the ather information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Qur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstaternent in the financial
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard,



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
(continued)

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

+« the information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
+« the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the directors' repert. We have nothing to report in
respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in
our opinion:

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small companies
regime and take advantage of the small companies' exempticn in preparing the directors' report and from
the requirement to prepare a strategic report.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
50,

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reascnably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.




GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GLLCBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
{continued)

The extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities including fraud

Our approach to identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities,
including fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations, was as follows:

= the senior statutory auditor ensured the engagement team collectively had the appropriate competence,
capabilities and skills to identify or recognise non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

¢ we identified the laws and regulaticns applicable to the company through discussions with the directors and
other management, and from our knowledge and experience of the entity's aclivities;

» we focused on specific laws and regulations which we considered may have a direct material effect on the
financial statements or the operations of the company including Companies Act 2006 and taxation
legislation;

« we assessed the extent of compliance with the laws and regulations identified above through making
ernquiries of management and reviewing legal expenditure; and

« identified laws and regulations were communicated within the audit team regularly and the team remained
alert to instances of non-compliance throughout the audit.

We assessed the susceptibility of the company's financial statements to material misstatement, including
obtaining an understanding of how fraud might occur, by:

« making enquiries of management as to where they considered there was susceptibility to fraud, their
knowledge of actual, suspected and alleged fraud; and

¢ considering the internal controls in place to mitigate risks of fraud and non-compliance with laws and
regulations.

To address the risk of fraud through management bias and override of controls, we:

performed analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships;
tested journal entries to identify unusual transactions;

¢ assessed whether judgements and assumptions made in determining the accounting estimates were
indicative of potential bias; and

* investigated the rationale behind significant or unusual transactions.

In response to the risk of irregularities and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we designed procedures
which included, but were not limited to:

» agreeing financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation;
» reading the minutes of meetings of those charged with governance; and
« enquiring of management as to actual and potential litigation and claims.

There are inherent limitations in our audit procedures described above. The more removed that laws and
regulations are from financial transactions, the less likely it is that we would become aware of non-compliance.
Auditing standards also limit the audit procedures required to identify noncompliance with laws and regulations
to enquiry of the directors and other management and the inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if
any.

Material misstatements that arise due to fraud can be harder to detect than those that arise from error as they
may involve deliberate concealment or collusion. .

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: https://
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
{continued)

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, cor for the opinions we have formed.

2=

Sachin Ramaiya (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Gravita Audit Limited

Chartered Accountant
Statutory Auditor

Finsgate

5 - 7 Cranwood Street
London

EC1V 9EE

Date: 21 July 2023




GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022

Administrative expenses

Operating loss

Taxation

Loss for the year

Note

Year ended
31 May
2022

£

(350,278,493)

Period ended
31 May

2021

£

(350,278,493}

(350,278,493)

The profit and loss account has been prepared on the basis that all operations are continuing operations.



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MAY 2022

As at As at
31 May 31 May
2022 2021
Note £ £
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 4 346,000,201 1
Current assets
Other receivables 5 1 1
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 6 (696,278,694) (1)
Net current Habilities (696,278,693) -
Net (labilities)/assets {350,278,492) 1
Equity
Called up share capital 7 1 1
Retained earnings {350,278,493) -
Total equity (350,278,492} 1

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies
subject to the small companies regime.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 21 July 2023 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Mr Valery Kisilevsky
Director
Company number: 12723686
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GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR TO 31 MAY 2022

Share Retained Total
capital earnings

£ £ £

Balance as at 6 July 2020 - - -
Issue of share capital 1 - 1
Balance as at 31 May 2021 1 - 1
Loss for the year - (350,278,493) {350,278,493)
Balance as at 31 May 2022 1 {(350,278,493) (350,278,492)

11



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

Accounting policies
Company information

Global Academic Holdings Ltd (‘the company’) is a private company limited by shares incorporated and
domiciled in England and Wales. The address of its registered office is 30 Holborn, Buchanan House,
London, EC1N 2HS,

Reporting period

These financial statements cover the period 1 June 2021 to 31 May 2022. The comparative resuits cover
the period from incorporation on 6 July 2020 tc 31 May 2021 and sc are not directly comparable.

Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (“FRS 102") and the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006,

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the company. Monetary
amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £,

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The principal accounting
policies adopted are set cut below.

The company has taken advantage of Section 401 of the Companies Act 2006 hot to prepare consolidated
accounts on the basis that the company’s results are included in the consolidated accounts for a larger
group, which is disclosed in Note 10, These accounts therefore present information about the company
and not its group.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which the Directars believe to be
appropriate for the following reason. The company is reliant on the support of other group companies as a
result of the way that the group is financed. Globat University Systems Holding B.V. has agreed to continue
to provide financial and other support to the company for the foreseeable future to enable it to continue to
trade.

As a result, having assessed the response of the directors of Global University Systems Holding B.V., in
light of its support and on the basis of their assessment of the company's financial position and Global
University Systems Holding B.V.’s financial position, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the
company will be able to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS 102

FRS 102 allows a qualifying entity certain disclosure exemptions, subject to conditions. The company has
taken advantage of the following exemptions in its individual financial statements:

s The Directors have applied the exemption available to qualifying entities in FRS 102 paragraph
1.12(b) from presenting a statement of cash flows;

+ from the financial instrument disclosures, required under FRS 102 paragraphs, 11.42, 11.44, 1145,
11.47, 11.48(a)(iii), 11.48(a)(iv), 11.48(b), 11.48(c), 12.26, 12.27, 12.29(a), 12.29(b) and 12.29A, as
the information is provided in the consolidated financial statement disclosures.

12




GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022 (continued)

1.5 Fixed asset investments

Interests in subsidiaries are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. The investments are assessed for impairment at each reporting date and
any impairment losses or reversals of impairment losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the company. Control is the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of the entity so as to abtain benefits from its activities.

1.6 Financial instruments

The company has elected to apply the provisions of Section 11 ‘Basic Financial Instruments’ and Section
12 ‘Other Financial Instruments Issues’ of FRS 102 to all of its financial instruments.

Financial instruments are recognised in the company's balance sheet when the company becomes party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, with the net amounts presented in the financial statements, when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously,

Basic financial assets

Basic financial assets, which include debtors and cash and bank balances, are initially measured at
transaction price including transaction costs and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest mathod unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction
is measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. Financial
assets classified as receivable within one year are not amortised.

Classification of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the company after deducting all of its liabilities.

Basic financial liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including creditors, bank loans, loans from fellow group companies and preference
shares that are classified as debt, are initially recognised at transaction price uniess the arrangement
constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the
future payments discounted at a market rate of interest. Financial liabilities classified as payable within one
year are not amortised,

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Amounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one

year or less, If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade creditors are recognised initially at
transaction price and subsequenily measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

13



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022 (continued)

In the application of the company's accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised where the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods where the revision affects both current and future

The key judgment made by the directors was in respect of potential impairment of the company's invesiment
in subsidiaries. The directors performed an impairment assessment based on discounted future cash flows
of the respective subsidiaries and determined an impairment was required in respect of its investment in

2  Judgements and key sources of uncertainty
periods,
GAH Holdco Lid, as shown in Note 3.

3 Administrative expenses

Year ended Period ended

31 May 31 May

2022 2021

£ £

Legal and professionai fees 377,969 -
Audit fees 8,000 -
Other operating expenses 59,858 -
Divisional recharge 3,832,566 -
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries 346,000,100 -
Total administrative expenses 350,278,493 -

During the year, the Directors assessed the carrying value of the Company's investment in GAH Holdco
Ltd. The investment value of £346m arose on the issue of share capital by GAH Holdco Ltd in the pericd in
relation to a Group reorganisation, and as this remained payable by Global Academic Holdings Ltd as at 31
May 2022, it was determined that it was appropriate to impair the investment at this time. Subsequent to
the year end, the Group recrganisation was completed and the payable due to GAH Holdco Ltd in relation

to the share issue was settled.

4 Investments in subsidiaries

As at As at

31 May 31 May

2022 2021

£ £

Investments in subsidiaries 346,000,201 1

14




GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022 (continued)

Cost

As at 6 July 2020
Additions

As at 31 May 2021
Additions

As at 31 May 2022

Impairment

As at 6 July 2020
Charge

As at 31 May 2021
Charge

As at 31 May 2022

Carrying amount

At 31 May 2021
At 31 May 2022

Total

1

1
692,000,300

692,000,301

346,000,100

346,000,100

1

346,000,201

During the year, GAH Holdco Ltd issued 346,000,000 new shares and GAH Midco issued 346,000,100 new
shares to Global Academic Holdings Ltd as part of a group reorganisation. At the year-end, the
consideration was unsettled and therefore £692,000,100 is shown as payable to subsidiaries. As shown in
note 12, the consideration was settled subsequent to the year-end in March 2023. A list of investments in

subsidiaries is given in note 11.

5 Other receivables

Unpaid share capital

6 Trade and other payables

Trade payables

Amounts owed to subsidiaries
Amounts owed to group undertakings
Accruals

Total

As at As at

31 May 31 May
2022 2021
(restated)

£ £

1 1

As at As at

31 May 31 May
2022 2021

£ £

392 -
692,000,301 1
417,345 -
3,860,656 -
696,278,694 1

15



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022 (continued)

7

10

1"

Called up share capital

Nominal Aggregate

No. value value
£ £

Authorised, issued and not fully paid
At 31 May 2021 1 1 1
At 31 May 2022 10,000 0.0001 1

On 5 October 2021, the company’s share capital of 1 ordinary share of £1 nominal value was sub-divided
into 10,000 ordinary shares of £0.0001 each,

Related party transactions

The company has taken advantage of the exemption allowed in FRS 102 and has not disclosed details of
related party transactions with 100% owned entities within the group.

Directors and employees

The directors received no remuneration in the year in respect of their qualifying services to the Company
(2021: £nil).

There were no employees of the Company during the year (2021: nil).

Ultimate controlling party

The immediate parent undertaking is Global University Systems B.V, a company incorporated in The
Netheriands.

The ultimate controlling party is The Heritage Trust, registered in Guernsey.

The smallest group into which the Company is consolidated is Global University Systems Holding BV, a
company registered in The Netherlands and whose registered office is Passeerdersgracht 23, 1016XG
Amsterdam, The Nethertands. Its consolidated accounts are available for inspection by appointment at this
address.

Subsidiaries

At 31 May 2022, the Company directly owned the issued share capital of the following companies:

Name of undertaking Registered office Class of shares held % Held
GAH Holdco Ltd England and Wales Ordinary 100%
(GAH Education Hofding Limited England and Wailes Ordinary 100%
GAH Midco Ltd England and Wales Ordinary 100%

The address of the registered office of these subsidiaries is the same as the Company.

16



GLOBAL ACADEMIC HOLDINGS LTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2022 (continued)

12 Post balance sheet events

In March 2023, as part of a group reorganisation, the Company sold the entire share capital of GAH
Education Holding Limited to GAH Holdco Ltd for a consideration of £346m, settled by way of offset against
the consideration payable to GAH Holdco Ltd on the issue of new share capital issued. The Company
simultaneously lost control of GAH Holdco Ltd which became a subsidiary of GAH Midco Ltd.

17



Global University Systems Holding B.V.

Consolidated Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 May 2022

Amsterdam 2022

—th s document s signed d gitally—



Global University Svstems Holding B.V.
Consolidated Financial Starements
for the vear ended 31 May 2022

Contents

Page
Statement of Management responsibilities 3
Group Management Report 4
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 May 2022
Statement of comprehensive ncome 5
Statement of financial posinon G
Statermnent of changes in equiry 7
Statement of cash flows 5
Notes to financial statements 9

—th:s document s signed digitally—



Global University Systems Holding BV
Consolidared Financial Sratements
tor the vear ended 31 May 2022

Statement of management responsibilities for preparation and approval of consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
May 2022

The management of Global Lniversity Systems Holding B.V. and its subsidiaries (the Group; ks responsible tor the preparation ot the
consolidated financial statements which reflect in all material uspects the financial position of the Group as at 31 May 2022, as well as the
results Of 1ts activities, cash flows and changes in equity for the vear then ended in accordance with the international Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSY as adopted by the European Union,

In preparing the consolidared financial sratements, the Group’s Management is responsible for:

selecting appropriate accounting pulicics and their consistenr application;

undertaking reasonable measurement and caleulation;

- foullowing the prineiples of IFRS or disclosing all considerable deviadons from LFRS in rhe notes to the consolidated financial stitements;
preparing the eonsalidated fimuncial statements ol the Group on a going concern basis, except in cases when such assumption is illegal;
accountng for and disclosing in the consolidated financial statements all the relations and rransactions berween relared parties;

- accounting for and disclosing in the consolidated financial stzatements all subsequent events that need to be adjusted or disclosed;
- disclosing all claims related previous or potential legal proceedings;

disclosing 1n the consolidated financial statements all the loans or guarantees on behalf of the management.

anagement confirms that it has complied with the above mentioned principles m preparing the fimancial statements of the Group.
The Management is also responsible for:
- the development and implementation of, and control over an etfective and reliable internal control systern m the Group;
keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable aceuracy ar any tme the tinancial position of the Group;
- taking reasonuble steps to safeguard the assets of the Group; and

derecting and preventing from fraud and other irregularitics.

These consobdated financial statements as at 31 Mav 2022 prepared in compliance with IFRS as adopted by the Furopean Union are
approved on behalf of the Group’s Managemenrt on 16 December 2022,

On behalf of management:

Aaron Ciingen
Founder and Executive Chairman

Amsterdam

—th s document s signed d gitally~



Global University Systems Holding BV
Consolidared Financial Statements
tor the year eaded 31 May 2022

Group Management Report:

Financial Results
The trading results for the periods to 31 May 2022 and the Group's financial position at the end of the year are shosen in the artached audited

financial stuletuents.

The profit and Joss account fur the vear 2022 shows a profic (after ) of GBP 33 978 thousand dacluding che impact of exceptivaal costs
referred o in note 11 to the financial starements of 3 533 thousand) {18 months period ended 31 May 2021: GBP 60 838 thousand,.

Principal Activities of the Group

The Group s an international group of educatioml organisadens, including holdings in postsecondary teaching institutions, an online
division, a services and technology division, an inwernational student recruitment nerwork, a language training division and a number of
exccutive education and corporite training solutions,

Business Review and Future Developments
Management considers the performance of the Group and future prospeets o be satisfactory. For reasons of commercial confidentiality, the
directors resolved that further detail can be provided on request and ac the Group’s discredon.

Financial Review

Revenue has decreased by GBP 147 229 (2079 for the 12 months period ended 31 May 2022 a5 compared to the 18 moenths petiod ended 31
May 2021, and the profic on ordinary activides (before tax) has increased by GBP 107 717 thousand compared with the prior year. Excluding
the impact of exceprional costs referred tnin note 11 to the financial statements, the profit on ordinary activites (before tax) has increased by
GBP 30 815 thousand. Ner assets have increased by GBP 3% 490 thousand.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group continued enhancing jts management tearn, tisk management stracegies and internal control processes throughom the vear. The
dircciors and management consider the key risks and uncerinues affecting the company™s business to be: the general cconomic environment
{and, in pardcular, the effect of the ongoing armed contlict in the Ulkraine, increased in energy prices and overall price inflation); competition;
reputational risks; regulacory risks; liquidin and cash flow, and credit nsks.

While the Group's managemenr has developed specific plans to deal with each of those risk areas and the directors consider such plans to be
adequate, not all tisk factors are within management’s control, Other risks and uncertainties not listed abuve could also affect the Group.

Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
The Group’s management has idenrified a number of Kev Performance Indicators fur the Group and each rrading entitv. For reasons of
commercial confidentiahty, the directors resolved that further derail can be provided on request and at the Group’s diseretion.

Employees and Emplayment Practices
The Group employs a matrix organisadonal structure, with management organised across both functional group-level and insttution-level
lines. The Group views talent and people as their greatest assets and aceordingly employment practices are designed 1o atrract, motivate,
reward, develop and rerain high performers in the context of the company’s educational activides. The Group also encourages responsible
emplovnient practices in its supply chain.

Research & Developrent
The Group invests in research both at insttution level, whereby a number of group insttutions have articulared research straregies, and at a

group level where R&1) projects cover various aspects of our business, with a particular focus on innovative learning technologies.

Sustainability, Envitonmental and Societal Impact

The group has a number of policies in place o minimise the nnpact of our operations on the environment, including initiatives to minimise
enctgy use and waste and 1o encourage recyeling. A aumber of Group institutions are w Ork{ng towards offsetting the carbon emissions
associated with their operations and the Group as a whole Is progressing a "net zeto” strategy and associated targets. In addidon, the Group
bas developed a code of business cthics which applies w its dealings with supplicrs, students, customers and other stakeholders.

Outlook
Management view is the outlook of the Group for the upcoming vear is sadstactory. For reasons of commercial confidentiality, further details
are available on request and at the Group's discretion.

Aaron Eringen
13 i ) ] ~ltis document s signed d gitally—
Founder and Faecutive Chairman



STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 May 2022
fiz theesarnd GRBP, mrless athenvize stalvd)

Global University Systems Hlolding BV

Consolidated Financial Sratements
tor the vear ended 31 May 2022

ot Year 18 months
NTtE
ended 31 May ended 31 May
2022 2023
Revenue 7 383,046 730,275
Orher inconmie 23,362 30671
Teal income 606,408 760,946
Expenditure:
Staft costs ) (238,848 (298,068,
Murketng costs 9 {33,137 52,384
Depreciation and amortisation 14,15 (51,838 (7. 182)
Orher operaring costs 0 176,331y (234.077;
Fxeepuonal costs: derecognition of asscus 1 (3,55%) (B0O435)
Total expenditure (523,707) (742,163)
Lncome (loss) due to changes in value of (UL 5
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss T -
Gain from sale uf subsidiary - 4,055
Finance income 12 14,250 26,259
Finance costs 13 {33,123} (96,622
Fares on borrowings 4,001 (8.445;
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 51,749 (55,968)
Income tan (enpenses)/income 26 2,229 (4,870;
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 53,978 (60,838)
Non-controlling interest 77 (4
Profit for the year attributable to parent shareholder 53,901 {60,834)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:
Eftect of foreign currency transiarion 4403 (2.872)
let ot s .nsive inc 2 rec H s i
Net other l.omp'reht.nsne income to be reclassified to profit or loss in 4,405 9.872)
subsequent periods
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 4,405 (9,872)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 58,383 (70,710)
Not-contradling interest e e
Total comprehensive income atiributable to parent sharcholder 58,306 (70,706)

Aaron Ltingen
Founder and Fxecutive Chairman

Notes on pages Y to 35 are an integral part of these financial statements

—ths decurnent s signed d gitally—



Global University Systems Holding BV,
Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 May 2022

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 May 2022

(o el CEBE, smiesy athermie stated;

ASSLTS Note 31 May 2022 31 May 2021
Noo-cuttent assets
Property, plane and equipment 14 370,792 378,940
Lnrangible assers 15 63,647 70,634
CGoodwill 16 181,303 181,304
Accrued lncome 20 45,491 28,407
Deposits and guaranices 18 7,200) TAN6
I.Ong termy taxes receivable 31 5,000 8,000
Loans 1ssued 17 200,027 191,877
Deferred tax asscts 26 80,042 69,812
958,502 936,090
Current assets
Inventories 4 52
Trade and other receivables v 335007 261,304
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 0 104,455 67,929
Orther financia) assets 17 83,831 60,596
Oxthier taxes receivable 15,854 18,723
Cash retained in escrow account 22 1,003 897
Cash and cash equivalenrs 21 478,312 435,477
1,039,100 845,038
TOTAL ASSETS 1,997,602 1,781,128
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capical 23 32 33
Share premium 54 54
Other capital 6,031 6,131
Retained earnings 16:4,958 109,945
Effect of foreign currency translation (10,453) {14,858)
Equity atrributable to the parent shareholder 160,722 101,305
Non-controlling interest {1,918) (1.991)
TOTAL EQUITY 158,804 99,314
WNon-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 24 956,272 963,086
Finance lcasc liabilities 30 271,960 272,345
Deterred tax labilities 20 44,273 4—‘),357
1,272,505 1,285,388
Current liabilities
Trade and other pavables 25 146,008 123,812
Provisions 102 102
Loans and borrowings 24 63,612 30,153
I'tnance lease liabilities 30 21,608 19,794
Deterred income 281,748 16349
Income tax payable 26 33149 39,512
Orther taxes payable 20,066 17.357
566,293 396,426
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,838,798 1,681,814
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,997,602 1,781,128

Aaron E[inbmn
Founder and Txecutive Chairman

Notes on pages 9 to 35 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Global University Systems Holding B\
Consolidated Pinancial Starements
tor the vear ended 31 May 2022

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 May 2022

(e thaasaud GBY, nrdesy otberise stuted,

Equity attributable to the parent shareholder

Effect of Neon-
Share Share Other Retained  foreign Total controlling Total equity
capital  Premium capital earnings  currency interest
translation
30 November 2019 32 54 6,131 170,503 (4,986) 171,734 {1,991} 169,743
Presfit tor the vear - {60,834) - (60,8343 &5 (60,838)
Orther comprehensive income - - - - MR (9,872) - (9,872)
Total comprehensive .
income - - - {60,834 (9,872)  {70,706) (4) (70,710)
Adjustments on adoption ot
- - - 280 - 2 - 280

[FRS 16 (Note 6) 8 80 8
31 Muay 2021 32 54 6,131 139,949 {14,858) 101,308 {1,995y 99,313
Profit for the year - - - 33,901 - 53,901 7 53,978
Orcher comprehensive income - - . - 4,403 4,405 - 4,405
Total comprehensive - . - 53,901 4,405 58,306 77 58,383
income
Othet capiltal movement - - - 1,115 - 1,i15 - 1,115
31 May 2022 32 59 6131 164,965 (10,353) 160,729 (1,918) 158,811

Aaron Ttingen

Founder and Esecurive Chairman
. - . - . —th s document s signed f gitalty—
Notes on pages 9 to 35 are an integral part of these financial statrements e dgtety



Global University Systems Holding B\
Consolidared Financial Stacements
for the vear ended 31 May 2022

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 May 2022
(o7 thonsand GBI, nnless othervise stated)

Year 18 months
ended 31 May ended 31 May
2022 2021

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before rax 51,749 (55,968)
Adjustmenr to reconcile profit before rax 1o ner cash flows
Diepreciation and amortisaton expenses 14,15 51,838 77,182
Gain from sale of subsidiary - (4,053)
Finance income 12 (14,2300 {26.260)
Finance costs 13 33,123 96,622
Collecrion, recovery and bad debr expense 10 3,004 8,480
(Gain)/ loss on derecognition of intangible assees 15 81 13,018
{Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 106 -
Gain (loss) on currency exchange rate fluctuations 7,016} 34,352

139,535 143,571
Working capital adjusiments;
Change in trade and other receivables (88,030) {127,403;
Change in prepaid expenses (5,289) (13,962)
Change in invenrories - -
Change i deposits and guarantees 84) (354;
Change in other assets {18,387 (33,506}
Change in trade and other accounts pavable 24245 26,724
Change in accrued income (3,505 23,451
Change in deferred income 116,252 18,856

133,177 41,173
[nterest paid (net) (48,923} (65,641)
[ncome tax paid (19,448} (2,880)
Net cash flows from operating activities 64,806 (27,348)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (12, 79¢tn (22,893;
Purchase of intangible assers 3,053 (2,462)
Loans issued to shareholders - {30,057y
Loans issued to other parties (729} (11,367}
Loans issued repayment and change in deposits 2424 (30,9063
Purchase of subsidiaries - (31,007}
Praceeds from assignment of prepayments for intangible assets - -
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary - 4,055
Proceeds from other financial assets disposals - -
Net cash flows from investing activities (14,148) (147,637)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from loans and boreowings 33,876 178,476
l.oans (ransacticn costs - (3,628)
Cash retained at escrow aceount ro fund permitted acquisition - -
Repavment of loans and horrowings (3,613 (25,526)
Pavment of finance leasc liabilities (20,676) (25,159)
Wet cash flows from financing activities 11,587 124,164
NET CASH FLOWS 62,245 (50,821)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 436,376 493,565
Foreign exchange difference (14,901} 3,505
Ettecr of transiation to presentatdon currency 4,405) (9,872)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 479,315 436,376

Aaron Litingen
Founder and Executive Chairman
Notes on pages 9 to 35 are an integral part of these financial statements
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CGlobal University Systems Holding B\
Cansolidared Financial Statements
for the vear ended 31 May 2022

Notes to consolidated financial statements of Global University Systems Holding B.V.
for the year ended 31 May 2022
(2 tronsand GBI, undess otherpise stated)

1 General information

Global University Systeras Holding BV, was incorporated on the 23ed May 2012 and is registered ar Kelzersgrache 307, HITOED Amsterdam,
The Netherlands.

Global University Systems is an international group of educarional establishments, including haldings in postseenndary teaching institutions,
an online division, a services division, an international smident recruitment neework, a Linguage training division and a number of executive

education and corporate training solutions.

[Kev mstitutions in the Group include (at the time of the preparation of this report) Arden Universin, Universing Canada West, Universin of

Europe for Applied Sciences, the Universit of Law, Saba University School of Medicine, Medical Uniy
Uaiversiny Schoal of Medicine, Edology, HTK Acaden, London School of Business & Finance, GISMA Business School, St Patrick’s
[nternational College, London College of Contemporary Ares, The Language Gallerv language schools, London College of Crearive Media,

sty of the Americas, St Martthew's

Toronto School of Management, Canadian College of Technology and Business, Trebus lustiouce, InterCollege Amsterdam, London Academy
of Trading, Berlin School of Business & Innovation, High Q, IBAT College Dublin and INT the Lnstitute of Innovauon and “Fechnology, as
weil as the istitutons which form part of the India Group.

The University of Law is the leading provider of professional legal training provider in Forope. Granted Taughr Degree A\warding Powers
(TIDAP) in 2007 and Universin nile in 2012, the University offers a range of undergraduare, posigraduate and professional courses, The
Universin traas future solicitors and barristers with unrivalled employabiling and student sadsfaction scores, It operates from 17 Jocations in
the UK, Germany, Hong Kong, and online. Lt also operates a business school and provides protessional development courses.

Arden University is a UK based specialist provider of online and blended courses of study across multiple disciplines. Granted Taughr Degree
Awarding Powers ([1XAPY in 2014 and University tile in 20135, the Unbvetsity offers a range of undergraduate, posigraduate and protessional
courscs, ncluding aceredited psychology, engineering, computing & ', HR management and other courscs.

The London School of Business and Finance (1.8BF} is a business school based in Vondon, United Kingdom, with campuses in the UK and
Singapore. |.5BF offers prograimmes in matagement, finance, hospitality and markeung; executive and corporite taining and protessional

accountancy qualificaton craining. In the UK, TSBE is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated with no share eapital.

University Canada West is Canada’s tirst private, for-profit university, established in Britsh Columbia in 2005, The University was acquired by
the group 1n late 2014, and offers MBA, Beom, BA and associawe degree and foundation courses 10 students 1n Vancouver and online. The
Uaiversity holds Educstion Quality Assurance designadon in British Columbia, s a member of the Association 1o Advance Collegiate Schools
of Business {AACST) Business Education Alliance and is accredited by the Accreditavon Council for Business Schools and Programs
(ACBSP). 1n 2020, UCW opened s new state .of -the-arr, purpose-built campus in downtown Vancouver, Vancouver House.

St Patrick's International College traces its roors to 1803 when it was ser up as a school in the London Se Giles” Parish wirh the backing of St
Patrick's Church, Afier the Catholic Primary School clascd, the Catholic Church continued 1o run St Patrick’s ax a Language School weaching
English. In 1998 it changed hands and the College soon srarted o teach diplomas and degrees at both undergraduate and postgraduare level
it Law, Business, Flospizality, Compunng and Health & Social Care. The group acquired its interest iz 20012,

GISMA Business School was lzonched in 1999 as a joing indarve by the staie of Lower Saxony and visionary private-sector enterprises.
GISMA currently offers MBA courses and executive cducation courses in Hanover and in Berlin, and i3 acerccited by the Associaton of
MI3As TAMBA), one of the most prestigious accolades {or business studies. The school has partnerships with a number of European business
schools. to 2013, GISM A\ became part of the GUS group.

Lidology (Interdcuve} is the online division of the GUS group offering an award winning distance learning phutorm providing recognised
pratessional courses, undergraduare educarion, postzraduate education and exccutive programmes. These are offered 100"« online in
collaboration with some of the world's leading educational institutions.

The Language Gallery C1T.G; is the Group™s language trainiag brand with schools in Londan, Bitmingham, Manchesier, Toronwo, Vancouser,
Singapore and flannover. TLG grew ro become one of the most successful languaage raming providers globaltly wich a focus on top quabty,
student-cantered provision. THG schools are accredited by the British Council, EQUALS, ACELS, English UK, Languages Canada, and
Business Fnglish Uk

IBAT College Dublin provides eourses in business, accountancs, information iechnology and knglsh Fanguage, The College otfers full and
part-time courses ar skills, degree faceredited by Quality and Quabfications Ireland (QQI' and masters level out of s centrally located

‘The University of urope for Applicd Sciences s a prominent state aceredited higher cdueation provider in Germany, with four campuses in

Berlin, Potsdam, Hamburg, and Iserlohn. Through its taculties, the Universiny of Europe for Applied Sciences ofters courses in business, art

and design, medim and communications, 25 well as sports management and psichology. UTL combines creanvin, entreprencurship &

technolog under one raot on aninternational level — competencies which are in high demand in roday’s and romorrow’s world of work.
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Global University Systems Holding B.V.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements of Global University Systerns Holding B.V.
for the year ended 31 May 2022
fin thonsand GBI, undesr othernise stuted)

1 General information (continued)

[ITK Acudenm of Design, founded in Hamburg in 1987 and also based in Berlin since 2000 is Germany’s largest private vacartional academy
in Graphic Design and has the status of 4 state-accredited, Privare Berufsfachschule” in Hamburg and of a Erganzungschule (supplementary
school) in Being HTK has trained thousands of communication designers in the key areas of Visual Communication: Adverusing Design,
Digital Media, Editorial Design and THustration.

London College of Crearive Media is a cenfre of excellence for music and media education, offering undergraduate degrees in music, writing,
and music management; a postgraduate degree in creative entreprencurship; and shorter courses in musie performance and production. Tt was
founded in 2002 as the London Cenrre of Contemporary Music and changed to its present name in 2006, LCCM was also the home of the
National Youth Jazz Ovrchestra from 2012 to 2017 and in 2018 moved to a new, state-of the art purpose-built campus, the Music Box.

Toronto Schoal of Management is a registered Private Career College, offering a range of diploma courses in big data, accounting, business,
IT, hospitality as well as a number of university pathway programmes and co-op placements for students from irs campus in the heart of
downtown Toronto.

London Academy of Trading was the UK’s first accredited trading academy, LAT is an internaticnally recognised provider of finance
cducation - its programmes focus on the practical application of academic theory to ensure that students enter the workplace fecling
confident and in control. Tutors use the larest software to reach students the realities of working in Iinance.

Berlin School of Business & Innovation — BSBI ofters 1 range of bachelor and master's programmes, in academic partnership wich
International Telematic Uaiversity UNINETTUNO, ac its Berlin Campus, Fstablished in 2005, Uninctuno delivers (bachelor) degrees,
specialisation degrees, and university master’s degrees acknowledged throughour the world.

INT - the Insteute of lnnovation and Technology was cstablished in 2001 and was acquired by Global University Systems in 2018, 1r has
grown to be the leading instirute for professional training and certification in the [sraeli high-tech industry, The college offers a wide range of
specialised courses in all aspects of high-rech industry needs, including railor made eourses in parmership with global industry leaders and
offers certified courses by Microsoft, Cisco, ISTQB, and othets.

High-(} is Ysrael's leading and most established exam preparation provider with significant proprietary intellectual property in adaprive
learming and gamification of content, operating through 11 locations nadenwide and anline,

London College of Contemporary Arts (LCCA) is a specialist mstitution providing carcer focused programmes in visual mediz and fashion.
Founded in 2011, LCCA offers a variety of foundation, undergraduate, postgraduate and CPD coueses.

The India yroup includes a leading postsecondary institution which specialises in engineering, law and business studies, as well as a prominent
design academy with presence across India.

The Canadian College of Technology and Business (formetly, the Polude Insdture of Technology and Media) is a designated learning
provider in British Columbia, Canada. Acquired by the group in late 2019, the College is offering a varicty of practieal training courses in
cyber securiry, data analytics and business.

R3 Educaton owns and opetates three leading aceredited graduate medical schools in the Caribbean {Saba University School of Medicine,
Medical University of the Americas, St Matthew's University School of Medicine) offering MD and veterinary programmes with excellent

USMLE exam outcomes,

Trebas Insticure is bilingual, post-secondary college specialising in the recording ares with campuses in Montreal, Quebec, and Toronto,
Qnrario.

InterCollege Amsterdam is a specialist pravider of practcal business educadun offering both local Dutch and international qualifications at
the heart of the city.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements of Global University Systems Holding B.V.

for the year ended 31 May 2022
tire Pharesand GBE, unless athervise stated,

1 General information (continued)

Country of

Main activity

Group sharcholding, %

incorporation

GUS Holding BV Group 31 Mlay 2022 38 May 2021
Glohal University Systems FHoldiag BV, Netherlands Haolding company

Global University Systems BV Netherlands Holding company 100 100
Lake international Limited England Holding company Lo 100
Jake Bridge Incernational Ple Fngland Finance a0 100
Trnity Bidco LEC England Halding company 160 10
Global University Systems Capital BV, Nethetlands Finance 1410 100
Markermeer Finance B, Netherlands Finance 100 100
Lake Finco IT Limited FEngland Finance Lov Il
Study Abroad B.V. Netherlands Students Recruirment 100 10)
Study Abroad Led (UALE) UAR Students Recruimment 100 L0
Tinance and Business Training Limired England Educational serviees 100 100
The Accountancy College Fimited England Cducational services 100 110
InterActive Pro Limited Eingland Ebducational services T 100
Aceent Language Limited England Ceucational services 100 100
Interacrive Muachester Fimired lingland Iiducational scrvices 100 100
Lomdon School of Business & Pinance Pre. Led. Singapore Educational services 1ol 100
f.ondon College of Contemporary Arts [imired Fngland liducational services 100 100
St. Parrick's International College Limired Fngland Fducationul services 100 100
St. Panick's College Limited England Educanonal seraces 1 100
GLSALN Business School Gmbl1 Germany Educational services o 1on
Toronto School of Management Inc. Cavada Educational setvices o0 Lo
Learningwise Educauon Lac DA Universiey Canacks Wesr Canada Educational serviees 100 Hdl
Language Gallery inc. Canada Fducatonal setvices UG it
Glabal University Systems Canada lnc. Canada Haolding compam 1K) 100
Global University Systems Canada { 1oldings [nc. Canada Holding company 100 Lo
London Academy of Trading Limited England Fducational services 785 78.5
GUS UK Management Limired England Finaace 100 Lo
GUS Services UK Limited Eagland Educational scrviecs 100 106
GUS (UsA) LLE L8A Students Recruinnent 100 100
Tuter Active World Wade 1imited L.ngland Luducational services 100 100
London School of Business & Finance (LK) Limited England Educatonal services 1060 Lo
Digital Unicorn Limited Lingland I“ducanional services LOD 100
.ﬂspirc Educaton Consulranes UK Led England Cducatonal services 30 80
LB.AT. Timited Treland Fdueational services 100 Iy
High-€} Global Led. Israe! Educational services 100 10
LCCM AU UK LTD FEnpland Fducational services 100 98.5
Insriruce of Technology and lanovadon INT Led Lsrael Educational semices S0 30
BSBI-Berlin School of Business and Innos ation Germany Fducational services 100 Loy
Guildinrd Campus Properry Limited England Educational services 100 100
Chester Campus Property Limited Fngland Educational services jon 100
The Janguage Gallery Vancouver GI? Inc England Educational senviees 100 100
L K Acadernic Haoldings Limited England Educational services 11y L
GUS Iducatien India 1P India liducational senvices 100 100
Canadian College of Management and Technology Canada Educational services 83 33
India Group India Lducational services 100 100
The tiniversity Of [Law Limited England Educational serices 100 1on
Callege of Law Scrvices Limiced Fngland F.ducational serices [ w0
ULAW UK Limired England Cducational services 100 14K
1} Bideo Linuted England Intermediate company 100 Iy
Arden University Limired England Educational services V8.5 93.5
GUS Germany GmbH Germany Educational services L0ty Lon
University of Applied Sciences burope GmbH Germany Educational services 100 OO
HTK Gmbti Grermany Educational services Lo 10N

In addigon o the above listed companies, the Group also owns a number of endties which are not active or dormant.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements of Global University Systems Holding B.V.
for the year ended 31 May 2022
(i thansand GBI, uniess othermise stuted)

2 Busis of prepararon of the financial statements
21 Starement of compliance

The consolidated financiai statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the lnternational Financial Reporring Standards
(IFRS) as adupted by the European Union, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASDB).

2.2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have heen prepared on 4 historieal cost basis, excepr for financial asscts at fair value through protit or

loss, that have been measured at fair value.

The Group maintains its accounting records in the relevant loeal currencics and prepares its statutory financial statements in accordance with
the applicable local accounting standards. The financial stacements are based on the stamtory accounting records, with adjustments and
reclassificarions for the prrpose of fir presentadon in compliance with TFRS ag adopted by the European Union.

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose consolidated financiad statements prepared in accordance with 1II'RS as adopred by
the European Union, and are not intended to be statutory financial statements as preseribed by Dutch legislation. They have been prepared to
provide information about the financial position, performance and changes in the financial position of the Group (all reported in accordance
with TFRS) to users who have been authorised by the Company 1o receive themn.

2.3 Basis of consolidation

The consohdated financial statements comprise the financial scatements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 31 May 2022, Control is
achieved when the CGroup is exposed, ot has rights, to vartable returns from s involvement with the investee and has the ability to attect
those returns through irs pawer over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an inveswee if, and only if, the Group has:

power over the investee {f.e., enisting rights that give it the current abilily to direet the relevant activities of the investee);
- exposure, or rights, to variable returns from irs involvement with the invesree;

the ability to use its power over the nvestee to affect its returns
Generally, there is u presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and when the Group has less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all the relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
1t has power over an investee, including the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee; rights anising from other
contracrual arrangements; the Group’s voting rights and potential voting righes.
Profit or loss and each component of othet comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the Group and w the
non controlling interests, even if this results in the noo-controlling intereses having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made
w the financial statements of subsidiardes to bring their accountng policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group
asscts and liabilites, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating ro transactions between members of the Group are climinared in full on
consotidation.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwilly, Habilities, non-controlling interest and
other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

2.4 Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition mcthod. The cost of an acyuisition is measured as the aggregare of the
consideration transferred, measurcd at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-conrolling interest in the acquiree, For each
business combination, the acquirer measures the non-conrolling interest in the acquiree cither at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acyuiree’s idenrifiable ner assers. Acquisidon costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses. If the business
combination is achieved in siages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquiret’s previously hekd equity interest in the aequiree is remeasured
to fair value at the acquisition date through the income statement.

Goodwill is initially ineasured at cost heing the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-
controlling interest vver the net Wdentifiable assets acquired and liabilties assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in the Income statement.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured ar cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Tor rhe purpose of impairmenr resting,
goodwill acquired 1n a business combination 1s, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are
expeeted to benefit from the combination, irrespecetive of whether other 2sscts or liabilitics of the acquiree arc assigned o those units. Where
goodwill forms part of 1 cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrving amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the pordon of the cash-
generating unit retained.

2.4  Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Business combinations atising from transfers of interests in cntities that are under the contro] of the sharehaolder that controls the Group are
accounted for using book value accounting. Any resuht from the acquisition is recognised directy in equity.
Disposals of interests in subsidiaries to enritics that are under the control of the shareholder thar controls the Group are accounted for using
book value accounting, Anyv result from the disposal is recognised directly in equity,
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Notes to consolidated financial statements of Global University Systems Holding B.V.
for the year ended 31 May 2022
(s tharsand GBI, nnders ofbenvise stated)

2.5 Functional and presentation cutrency

{a) Functional and presentation currency

All ttems included in the financial statements of cach of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary cconomic
environment in which the entities operare {the “functonal currency™). The national currency of the UK, Pound Srerling "GBP”) is the
functional currency for the Group’s entities that operate in and out of the UTK. Cor the eatiries that uperate i Canada the functional currency
is Canadian Dellar ("CAD™, tor the eatity that operates in the Republic of Singapore the funetional eurrency i Singapore Dollar ("SGD'},
for the entities that operate in Gernmany, Ireland and the Netherlands the functional currency is Eura {"EUR"), for the entity that operates in
the U'SA, and the entities which operate in the Caribbean the functional curreney 15 US Dollar ("USLY";, for the entities that operates in the
Republic India the functonal currency is Indian Rupee ("INR"), for the enuties that operate in the Israel the funcdonal currency is New
Isracli Shekel ("I1.8™), for the entitics that operate in the Republic of the Philippines the functional currencye is Philippine peso ('PHP"), for
the entines that operate in the Crech Republic the functional currency is Crech koruna ("CZK™), for the entides thar operate in Hong hong
the functional currencey is the Hong Kong dollar ("HIKID™, Financial statements are presented in thousand of GBP, unless otheraise stated.

(b) 1"0rcign Cufrency transactiony

Transacrions in currencies orher than the entins funcrional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing ar the
date of transactions. All monetary assers and liabililes denominated in foreign currencics are translated at the exchange rates prevating ar
cach reporting date. Non-monetary iems carried at historical eost are rranslated at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of transaction,
Non-monetary items carried at fair value are transhired ar the exchange rate prevailing ar the date on which the mose recent fair value was
determined. Linchange differences arising from changes in exchange rates are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Exchf,mgc rates used in the prepars ion of these financial statements were as tollows:

Average for the year
ended 31 May 2022

Average for the 18 months

31 May 2022 ended 31 May 2021

31 May 2021

Currency

GBP/CAD 1.6032 1.6961 17122 17245
GBPB/SGD 1.7281 1.8233 1.8753 1.7911
GBP/EUR 1.1745 1.1807 1.1631 1.1348
GBP/USD 1.2644 13449 1.4183 1.3134
GBP/INR 97.8778 1068621 02,3080 90,8034
GBP/1LS 4.2111 1.3319 4.0012 4.4525
GBP/PHP 66,1023 68.2442 67,6829 647111
GBY/CZK 29.01%3 22,6353 29,5796 20,7838
GBP/HKD 9.9234 10,4915 1L.O00™0 10.1920

‘

fe; Trapslation into presentation currency

|4

(1) all assets and liabilities, both monetary and noen-maoncuary, are transloted at closing exchange raes at the dures of cach staternent ot
financtal pusition presenged;

(2income and expense items are ranslated at the average exchange rares for the period, unless exchange rates flucruare signiticancly
during the perind, in which case exchange rates ac the date of transactions are used:

{3 all equiry items are translaced at the historical exchange rates;

() all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component in other comprehensive mcome;

{3)in rthe statement of cash flows, cash balances ar the beginning and end of each period presenred are translated ar exchange rares ar the
respective dates, All cash flows are translaied at the average exchange rates for the periods presented. Resuling eachange differences
are presented as offecr of translatdon to presentation currency.

2.6 Gaing concern

These financial statements are prepared on @ going concern basis, which implics realisation of assets and serdement of liabiliries in the normal
course of business.

2.7 Comparative figures

The accounung policies are consistent with those used in the previous vear For comparison purpases, some comparative figures have been
reclassitied.

3 Sipgnificant estimates and assumptions

The preparativn of the financal statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that atfect the reported amouns of
revenues, capenses, asscts and liabilites, and the disclosure of contngenrt labilitics, ac the end of the reportng period. However, due to the
inherent uncertinty contained in such estimates, acml resudrs recorded in furure periods imay doffer from such esdmares,

The Management has made the following judgments, estimates and assurnpuons, which have the most signiticant effect on the amountes

recogmsed in these financial statemienis:
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3.1.  Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses at each reporting dare whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. 1f any such indication exists, the
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. This requires an estimation of the value 11 use of the cash-generating unues to which the irem
is allocated. "The determiination of impairments of property, plant and equipment involves the use of estimates thar include, but are not limired
o, the cause, timing and amount of the impairment. Impairment iy based on a large number of factors, such as changes 11 current
competitive conditiens, cxpeerations of growth in the industry, increased cost of capital, changes in the furure availability of financing,
technulogical obsolescence, discontinuance of service, current teplicement costs and uther changes in circumstances that indicate impairment
exists. The decermination of the reeoverable amount of a cash generating unir invalves the use of cstimates by management.

Methods used w determine the fair value in use include discounted cash flow-based methods, which require the Group to make an estimate
of the expecred future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rae In order to caleulate the present
valae of those cash flows. These estimates, including the methodologies used, may have a marterial impacr on the recoverable value and
irimarely the amount of any propurty, plant ang cquipment impairment.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value-in-use. Whenever the carrving amount of an asser or its cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amoune an inpairment loss is tecognised. Impairment losses are recognised in the statemens of
comprehensive income,

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carryiug amount of the asset vr cash-generating umit is increased o the revised
estimare of irs recoveralile amount, but only to the extent that the incteased earrying amount does not exceed the original carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in
the statement of the comprehensive income,

3.2.  Impaiment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life

For gandwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life « recaverable amount is estimated at each reporting dare. An impairment loss is
recogmised if the carrying amount of an asser or cash-penerating unit exceeds its tecoverable amount. A cash-generatng unir is the smallest
identifiable asser group that generares cash flows that largely are independent from other asscts and groups. Impairment losses are recognised
in statement of the comprehensive income. Impairmenr losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated tirst w reduce the
carrving amount of any goodwill allocated 1 the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other ussers in the unit {group of units)
on a pro raea basis. The recoverable amount of an asser or cash-generating unit is the grearer of {ts value in use and irs fair value less cosrs o
scil, Tn assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted o rheir preseni value using a pre-tax discaunt rate that reflecrs
current marker as

sments of the tme value of money and the risks specitic to the assct.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, imparment losses recognised in prior periods are
assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss §s reversed if there is
any indication thar an impainment loss recognised in prior periods for an asset other than goodwill may no longer exist or may be decreased
and there Iras been a change in the estimates used 1o determine the recovetable amount. An impairment Toss is reversed only to the extent
that the asset’s carrving amnount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been detesmined, net of depreciation or amordsation, it
no impaitment toss had been recognised.

33 Useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses the remaining useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment at least at cach financal year-end. The management
assesses the remaining useful life of property, plant and equipment in accordance with the current technical conditions of assers and estimated
petiod when these assets bring economic benefit to the Group, If expectations differ from previous estimates, the changes are accounted for

as 2 change in an accoundng estimare.
34 Estimated credit loss and write-off policy

Measurement of expected credit losses is a significant estimate that involves the combination of determination meihodotogy, models and data
inpurs. At each reporting date, the Group recognises a lifetime expected credit losses allowance for each individual financial asset or a group
of assets if the respecrive credir risk on that usset has significantly increased since initial recogaition.

It, at the reporting date, the ceedit dsk on a financial instrument has not significantdy increased since initial recognition, the expected credit
losses allowanee for thar financial instrument is measured at an amourtt equal to the 12-month expected credir losses,

In respect of its trade receivable and contrace assets the Group always measures the expected credir losses allowance in the amount equal to
expected credir losses over the entire lifetime of the tinancial instrument. Costs to create an expeered eredit losses allowance for waade
accounis receivable are recorded in other operating expenses in the staternent of comprehensive income. Detidls of expected credie losses
measurement methodology are disclosed in Note 19.

The Group regularly reviews and validates the models and inputs to the models o reduce any differences between expected credit loss
estimaies and actual credit loss experience,

Financial assers are wntten-otf, 3 whole or in part, when the Group exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has concluded thar there i1s no
reasonable expectation of recavery. Determining the cash flows for whicl: there is no reasonable expectation of recovery requires judgement.
Management considered the following mndicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery: liquidation or bankruptey proceedings,

fair value of collateral is less thaa the costs 10 repossess it or enforcemenr activities were completed.
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3.5 Revenue completion

Having considered the vatien of course trpes provided by different group institutions, their fength and the profike of performance obligations
of component instirutions, the Group concluded rthar revenue is w be recognised over time for nwo discrere clements of the Group's
performance obligations: enrolment, financial aid and learning resources; and, course delivery, The proportion of revenue assoviated with
enrolment, financial aid and learning resources is recognised at the point of enrolment of the student, as the most reliable estimate of the
proportion of the Group's perforimance obligations performed at such poine in time. Those include the evaluation of prospective siudent's
application, dealing with any visa or student finance related matters, the delivery of pre sessional skills training (where applicable) and disparch
of books and matertals or activanon of online access to digital learning resources. The course delivery element of the revenue in respect of a

contract is recognised in a straight line over the period of the course length, i dine with the delivery profile where stedents simultancously
jas £ T g, ; 3

" Of revenue

recerve and consume the services provided by the Group. Overall, enrolment, financial aid and learning resources represent 25
and course revenue 5% of revenue,

3.6 Corporate tax provision and tax prepayments

Income rax includes provision due te the difference in accounting reference dates between component compames. Any differences between
tax esfimares and final tax assessments are charged to the income statement in the perod in which they are incurred, unless anticipated.
Where ax is prepaid {cither in the ordinary course or as part of a dispute with the tx authoriny) and the Group believes that it 18 more likely
than nat that it would refunded aca future date, a prepayment asset is recognised (sce Note 26).

3.7 Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial as

ts and financial liabilides recotded in the statement of hnancial position canner bhe measured based on
quoted prices in active markets, their tair value is measured using valuation technigues incduding the discounted cash flow (DCTY madel. The
inpurs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, bur where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in
esablishiayg fair valucs.
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4 Significant accounting pulicies
41 Revenue recognition

Revenue is income ansing n the course of the Group's ordinary activities, namely the provision of educaton and traming courses, and
ancillary services. The Group recognises the amount of contract price allocated 1o the satsfied performance obligation as revenue. A
transaction price is the amount of consideration that the Group expects to be endtled 0 in exchange for delivering promised services or
transfersing conrrol over goads to a customer, excluding the amounts collected on behalf of third partes.

Revenue is recognised net of discounts, rerurns and value added tax and other similar mnandatory payments.

The Group's contracts with customers are fixed-price contracts generally and fnclude both advance payment rowards the contract and
payments during the period of delivery of service and after the delivery of goods or performance of services to customers. As a rule, sales that
require a payment after the conuol over a good or service is transferred to customers are made with credit terms of 30 days o less, which is
consistent with the marker practice, and consequently trade receivables are classified as current assets.

A reccivable s recognised when, in accordance with the wrms of student contracts and /or applicable regulatons, students are lable for the
course fees (ypically in advance of, or within 3¢ days of the course start dare) as this is the point in time thar the consideration is
unconditional contractually and only the passage of time is required before the pavment is due,

Conrzact assets are recognised when the time of the performance obligation satistaction is different to the tme of billing and is differenr to
the time of payment. Contract assets are recoguised in respect of recruitment setvices and are recorded as acerued income in the statement
of financial position.

A contract liabifity is the Group's oblgation to transfer services or goods to a customer for which the Group has received a consideration
from the customer. Contract liabilities ro the customers are recorded ax current and non-current pavables (deterred income; in the statement,
of financial position, Current deferred Income represent performiance obligations satisfied in the nexr reporting period.

Rendering af educatiosal services

The Group provides education and training services. The Group's obligations to provide services are pertormed with the passage of fme.
Revenue is recognised based on the actual service provided to the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the total services to be
provided.

Rendering of recisitmient services

Revenue from rendering of recruitment senvices 1s recogaised when the Group has fulfilled all of its obligations. The provision in respect of
recruitment, retendon, and online education services for third parties 15 based on management estimates. The benchmark relied upen by
manzgement is the six vear graduation rate in four-vear institutions where the acceprance rate is less than 23 percent as reported by the
National Center of Education Statistics within the U.S. Department of Education,

4.2 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumaulated deprectation and/ or accumulated impairment losses, it any.

Subsequenr costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a scparate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future cconomic benefirs associared with the item will flow o the Group and the cost of the irern can be measured reliably. The carrving
amount of 2 pare replaced is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged o the starement of comprehensive income during
the financial period in which they are incurred. Major renewals and improvements are capitalised and the assews replaced are retired. Gaing
and losses on disposals are derermined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in irem "Orher operating
costs" ur "Cther operating income” in the statement of comprehensive income,

Depreciation is caleulated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asser as follows:

Freehold land Indefinite

Buildings 30 vears

Leuasehold improvements Shaorter period of the lease term and 5 vears
Compurer equipment and other 3 years

Furniture, tixtures and tittings 5 years

Vehicles 4 years

The assers’ residual values and usctul lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at cach financial vear end.

Capital construction-in-ptogress comprises costs directly relared o conscruction of buildings, infrastruccare, machinety and equipment. Cost
also includes finance charges capitalised during the construction period where such cosis are financed by butrowings. Depreciation of these
assets commences when the assets are put into production.

Drepreciation of property, plint and equipment is recogniscd within the "Depreciation and amortisation” itent in the statement of
comprehensive income.

4.3 Inventories

Inventorics are measured at the lower of cost and net reatisable value. Ner realisable value is the estimared selling price in the ordinsry course

of business, less estimated costs of completion and 1he estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The cost of inventories is assigned by using

the FIFQ) cost formula. The cost of inventorics comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventoties to their present location and condition.

The Group petiodically analvses inventories to determine whether they are damaged, obsolete or stow moving or it their nee realisable value

has declined, and makes an allowance for such inventories. If such situation occurs, the sum of the remissive cost of inventories should be
reflected in statement of comprehensive income. ~thig document § signad d-gitally—
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4.4 Intangible assets

Inwangible assets acquited separately are measured on imtial recognition at cost. Following inrtial recognition, intangible assets are carried at

cost less am accumulared amorrisarion and any accumulared imparment losses. Costs incurred on development (relating ro the design,

construction and testing of new or improved devices, products, process
Group can demonstrare the rechnical feasibiiey of completing the intangible asser so thar it will be available for use or sale, its inrenrion to
complete and its ability to use ur sell the asser, bow the asset will generate future econumic benefiss, the availability of adequate resources

s DT systems) are recognised as inangible assets only when the

complete the development, and the ahility to measure reliably the expendiure during the desclopment. Other development expenditures arc
recognised ay an expense as incurred.

The usetul lives of intangible assets are assessed as cither finite or indefinite.

lnmngiblc assets with indefinire usetwd lives are nor amortsed, bur are rested for imp:lirmenr nnnuu]l_\‘, eirther indi\'idually or at the cash
generating unic level,

Tncangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic hifi and assessed for imparment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. Amortisarion i« charged on a straight-line basis ever the following economic useful lives of these assets:

Brand Indefinice
Customer contracts/ relationships 8-10 ycars
Course marerials 5 years
Websites 3 - 10 years
Sofraare 3 - 15 years

Amortisation of intangible assets is recugnised within the "Depreciation and amortisation” item in the starement of comprehensive income.
4.5 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attribuable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifiing asset form part of the cost of that
asset and, therefore, should be eapitalised. Other borrowing cosrs are recognised as an expense.

4.6 Leases

Arinception of 4 contract, the Grnup assesses wherher a contract Is, or contains, a lease. Lease contraces rypically contain both lease and non-
Jease components, The Group allscates the constderation in the contract to the lease and non-lease components hased vn their relathve stand-
alone prices,
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease lability at the lease commencement dare. The righe-of-use asset is initilly measured at
cost, which enmprises the inital amount of the lease lability adjusted for any lease payments mude at or hefore the commencement dare, less
any lease incenuves received. The Group uses permissible exemption and excludes inidal direct costs from the measurement of rhe sighr-of-
use assets ac lease commencement dage.
The right-of-use asser is subsequently depreciated using the staight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease rerm.
In addition, the right of use asser is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurcments of the lease
Habiliry.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted
using (_}mup’g incrementral borrowing rate. The Group derermines irs incremental borrowing rate by obmaining interest rates from various
external financing sources and makes cerain adjustments to reflect the rerms of the lease and type of the asset leased.
The leasc lability is measured at amortised cost using the effectve mrerest mechod.
Lense pavments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included 10 the measurement of the habiliy.
The Group daes not have lease contracts that conain variable payvments.
Lease payment< are allocared berween principal and finance cost.
The Group also has certain leases of office equipment with low value. The Group applics 'lease of low-value assets’ recngnition exemprion for
these leases,
The Group ook advantage of permissible exemption of not reasscssing whether a contract is, or congains, a lease au the date of inival
application, applying this exemprtion to all contracrs thar were previuusl}‘ identified as leases under LAS 17 ‘Leases” and II'RIC + "Dretermining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease™.
Inn measuring fease liabilicy, single incremenral borrowing rate was applied to leases with spilar economic environment.
In detet‘mining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances thar ¢reaie an economic INCeNUve to CXErCIse an extension
option, or not exereise a termination oprion. Lxtension options for periods after rermination oprions, are only included in the lease term if the
lease is reasonably certam o be extended (or not terminated’. The Grnup also used hindsight in determimng the lease term 1 cases where the
conLrace C()Hl,ﬂ.iﬂS Ol‘)[l”ﬂ,‘} (58] C\IL’nd Or ternunare tll(,’ ]C.KSL'.
For leases of property, the following factors are normally the most relevant:
* It there are significant penalty pavments to wrminate for not extend), the group is wpically reasonably certain o extend {or not
terminate).
* It any lcasehold improvements are expecred 0 have a significant remaining value, the group is typically reasonably certain to exrend for
not werminare).
& Otherwi

. the group eonsiders nither facrors including historical lease duranens and the cosis and business disruption required ro
replace rhe leased asser.
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4.7 Financial instrurnents
Financial instruments are any contracts ehat give tise to a financial asset in one enuty and financial liability or equity insttument in another
Financial assets

{a} Financial asscts — initial recognition
finandial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss arc initally recorded at fair value, All other financial insteuments arc
initially recorded at fair value adjusred for transaction costs. Fair value at inidal recognition is best evidenced by the wransacrion price.
A gain or loss oo initial recognition is anly recorded if there 1s a difference berween tair value and transaction price which can be evidenced by
other observable current market transactions i the same instrument or by a valuadon technique whese inputs Include only data from
observable markers. After the initial recognition, an expected credit losses allowance is reeognised for financial assets measured at amortised
cost and investments in debr instrurments measured ar fair value through other comprehensive income, resulting in an immediate accounting
loss.
All purchases and sales of financial assers that require delivery within the time frame established by regalation or marhet convention (“regular
way” purchases and sales) are recorded ar trade date, which is the dare on which the Group commits to deliver a financial asset. All other
purchases are recognised when the entiry becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument,
The Group's trade receivables considered by the Management as such thar contain no sipnificant financing component, including due to the
maturity being less than 12 months for such a lability, are tntially measured ar transacdon price — a consideration expected in exchange for
transfesring the promised goods or servicey with subsequent recognition of the expected credit losses allowance.

(b} Financial assets — classification and subsequent measurement: measurement categories

The Group classifies financial assers in the following measurement categories: at fair value through profit or loss, ar fair value through other
comprehensive income and at amortised cost. The ¢lassification and subsequent measurement of debt tinancial assers depends on: (1) the
Group's business madel for managing the related assets porifolio and (i) the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

The business model reflects how the Group manages the assers in order to generate cash flows — whether the Group's objective is: (1) salely
to collect the contractual cash flows from the asscts or (i) to collect both the contractual cash flows and the cash flows arising from the sale
of assers. 1f neither of () and (i} is applicable, the financial assers are classified as part of “other” business model and measured ar fair value
through profir ot loss.

Business model is derermined for a group of assets (on a portfolio level) based on all relevant evidence abow the activities that the Group
undcertakes to achieve the objective sct owt for the portfolio available at the date of the asscssment. Factors considered by the Group in
derermining the business madel include the purpose and compusiton of a portfulio, past experience an how the eash flows for the respective
assets were eollected, how risks are asscssed and managed, how the assets” perfarmance ts assessed and how managers are compensated.

The Group™s Management analysed all financial assets recorded as at 31 May 2022 and concluded thae all financial assers are held as part of a
business modcl that assumes holding assees to collect contractual cash flows which represent solelv pavments of principal and interest on the
principal amounr curstanding.

As at 31 May 2022 the Group did not have financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss or other comprehensive income.
Linancial assets of the Group are presenced by accounts receivable, contract assets (accrued income), loans issued and cash and cash at
deposits.

After the initial recognition ar fair value such tinancial assers are subsequently carricd ar amortised cost using the effecrive interest method,
less impaitment loss. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount ot premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the etfective Juterest rare. The effective interest method amortisation is included in finance ncome in the statement of protit
or loss.

Financial instruments are reclassified when and only when the business model for managing those financial mstrumenes is changed in its
entirery. The reclassification bas a prospective effect and takes place from the beginmung of the first reporting perind that follows after the
chanyre in the business model. The entiry did nor change irs business model durings the current period and did not make any reclassificatons.

{¢) Tmpairment of tinancial asscts — expected credit loss allowance

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on a financial asset, other than those measured ar fair value through profic
or loss, at the end of cach repotting perind. At cach reparting date, the Group recognises a lifetme expected eredit losses allowance for ¢ach
individual financial asser ot a group of assets if the respective credir risk on that asset has significantly increased since inital recogaition, IF, ac
the reporting dare, the credit risk on a financial instrument has not significantly increased since initial recognition, the expected credit losses
allowance for rhar financial insrrament 45 measured at an amount equal to the 12-moneh expected credir losses.

In respect of rrade accounts receivable and conrract asscts, the Group measures the expected credit losses allowance in the amount equal to
cxpected eredit losses over the cntire lifetime of the financial instrumens. The eosts For creaung an cxpected credit losses allowance for trade
and other receivables are recurded within other operating expenses in the statement of comprehensive income,

Lxpected credit losses are measured by the Group on the basis of an unbiased and probability weighted amount that is determined by
evaluating a range of possible cutcomes, the tme value of money and all reasonable and supportable information ahout past events, current

eonditions and foreeasts of future condidaas that is available withuut unduc cost and effort ar the end of cach reporting period.
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4.7 Financial instruments (continued)

(s Writc-off of financial assets
Fiancial assers are written-off, in whaole or in part, when the Group has exhaunseed all practical recovery ettorrs and has concluded that there

is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The write-off represe

ts 1 derecognition event. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery include:

- A counterparty experiences significant financial difficultics as evidenced from the financial information about that counterparty available to
the Group;

- a counterparty considers o enter bankrupicy or other Minancial reovganisation;

- there is a negative change in the counterparts”s payment status due to changes in national or local economic conditions afteeting the
counterparty.

The Group may wrire off financial assets that are stll subject to enforcement activity when the Group seeks o recover amounts that are
concactually due, however, there is no reasonable expecration of recovery.

() Derecognition of financial assets
"The Group derecogrises financial assets, (a) when those assets are settled or the cash fow rights associated with those assets have expired, or
(b} the Group has transferred the cash flow rights from the financial assers or has enrered inro a eransfer agreement, and (i} also reansferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of these assets, or (i) neither transfeered nor terained virtually all rishs and rewards of
owncrship of those assets, but Inst control of those assets. Control is mainrained if the counterparty has no practical ability ro fully sell the
assct to an unrelated chird party withour imposing restrictions on sales,

Financial liabilitics

{1) Financial labilitics — inttial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group classifies its financial liabilities using the following categories: loans and borrowings reccived, lease Habilities, trade and other
pavables. The Group did not classify any of its liabilides as financial liabilities seared ar fair value through protic or loss, financial liabilities
arising when the transfer of financial assets does not qualify for derccognidon or when applying the continuing involvement approach,
tinancial guarantee contracts, or ohbgations to provide loans at helow-marker interesr rates.

All financial Habilities are inigallv carred at farr value less (eacept for financial liabilities measured at faie value through profic or loss)
fransaction costs that can be dircetly ateribured ro rhe crearion of a financial habilicy.

Afrer initial recogmition, the Group carrics its financial liabilides at amordsed cost using the effective interest method. Under the effectve
interest method, interesr expenses over the period remaining to maturity are paid at a constant mrerest rate on the remaining halance of the
Iil

settlement, as well as any ather interest payable, if the iabihtics arc unpaid.

bility recognised in the income statement. In this context, nterest expenses comprise initial tramsaction costs and interest payvable at a

{(h) Financial liabilities - derecognition
Financial labilitics are derecognised when the respective abligadons are discharged, cancelled or expire.

(€} Offsertng Hinancial instruments

Vinancial assers and liabilities are offset and the net amounc reported in the srarement of financial position only when there 15 a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is ao intention to either settle on 1 net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultancously. Such a night of sct off must not he contingent on a rature event and muast be legally enforceable in all of the following
circumstances: (i; in the ordinary course of business, (i) in the event of detault and ({if} in the event ot insulvency or bankruptey.

4.8 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hank, cash in hand, other short term highly liguid investments wirh original martunioes of three
s defined

months ot fess. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash cquivalents comprise cash and short term deposi
above, net of vutstanding bank overdrafrs.

4.9 Prepavments

Preparments are retlected at nominal value less accumulated impairment losses. Prepaviments are classified as non-current assers when the
goods or services relating 1o the prepayment are expecied to be provided later than in one vear, or when the prepayment relates to an asset
which will irself be classified as non-current upon nutal recognicion.

If thete is an indication that the assets, goods or services relating to 2 prepavment will not be recerved, the carrving value of the prepavment 1¢
written down accordingly and a corresponding impairment loss is recogrused as a part of other expenses in statement of comprehensive
ndeine.

4.10  Share capital

The structure of the share capital 1s specttied in (Nove 235
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411 Shareholder borrowings

In cthe past, the Group has received inrerest-free borrowings from the sharcholder. Term financial insiruments are recorded on inirial
recognition at fair value using rhe effective interest rate method. Judgment is applied in derermining market rates for initial recognition of
financial instrument at fair value, The Group's accounting policy is to record effect on inital recognition within equity and unwinding of
interesr expenses are recorded as interest expenses in the profit or loss.

412  Current and deferred income tax

The tas expense for the period comptises cureent and deferred tan. Tax is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except to
the extent that it relutes to items recognised directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in equiry.

The current income ax charge is calculated on the basts of the tax laws enacted or substanuvely enacted at the balance sheet date in the
countries where Griup entities operate and generate taxable income.

Deterred income tax is recognised, wsing the Tabiliy method, on temporary differences arising berween the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrving amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income rax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or lability in a transaction other than a business consolidation that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounring nor the taxable profit or loss, Deferred income s is determined using tax rates {and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted Iy the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related defetred income tax assetis realised or the deferred income tax
lability 15 setrled.

Deterred income tux assets are recognised only to the extent thar it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temparary differences can be utilised.

Deeterred income tus is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiarics, except where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is conrrolled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

41> Contingent assets and liabilities

Conungene liabilities are not recognised in the financial starements. Such liabilities are disclosed in the notes w the financial statements, except

when the probability of outflow of resources embodiing economic benefits is insignificant.
Contingunt assets are not recognised in the financial staremenrs, bur disclosed in the notes to the extent that iris probable that the economic

benefits will flow tu the Group.

4.14  Related parties

For rhe purposes of these financial statements, the parties are cunsidered o be rclated if one of the partes {including individualy has a
possibility to control or considerable influcnce the operational and financial decisions of other company. While considering any relaton which
can be defined as related party transaction it 1s necessary to take into consideration the substance of the transaction not only its legal form.
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5 New and amended standards and interpretations
New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year

o the current year, the Group has applicd 2 number of amendments to IFRS Standards and Interpretations issued by the TASB that are
effective for an annual period thar begins on or after 1 January 2021

» Amendments to IFRS 9, 1AS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 — Inrerest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2.
* Amendments to TFRS 16 Leases COVID-19-Related Renr Concessions beyond 30 june 2021,

Their adoption has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amaounts reported in these financial staiements. The Group has
not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but 15 not yer effeerive.

New and revised IFRS Standards in issue but not vet effective
Ar the date of authotisarion of these tinancial statemenss, the Group has not applied the following new and revised ['RS Standards that have

been issued but are not yet effectrve:
= ITRS 17 — Insurance Contracts {effective for anaual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2

J23).

« Amendments [FRS +f — bixrension of the Temporary Exemption from Applving TFRS 9 {effective for annual reporting periods begioniog on
oratter | January 2023,

* Amendments to [AS 1 — Classification ot Liabiltics as Current or Ioncurrent (applied for annual perods beginning on or after | January

* Amendments o TFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts {effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or atter | January 2023;.

* Amendmients 1o 1AS 1 and [FRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of Accounting Policies {effecnve for annual periods beginning oa or
after 1 January 2023),

= Amendments to IAS 8 — Definition of Accounting Estimates (¢ffecuve for annual penods beginning on or after 1 January 2023,

* Amendments to LAS 12 — Deferred Tax relared ro Assets and Liabilicies arising {rony a Single Transaction yetfective for annual perieds
beginning on or after 1 January 2023).

« Amendments to TAS 16 - Properry, Planc and Equipment: Proceeds betore Inended Use {effecove for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2U22).

* Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — 'ees in the "1} per cent’ rest for derecogniton of financial liabilirics {cffective for annual
reporting periods beginning on o alier ! fanuary 20223,

* Amendments to 1AS 37 — Oncrous Contracts — Costs of [ulfillng a Contracr (etfective for annual reporting puriods beginning on or after |
January 20i22).

= Amendments to IFRS 3 — Reference to the Conceprual Frameworls (etfective for annual teportng periods beginning on or after 1 January

» Amendments to [FRS | Figst-ume Adoprion of International Finaneial Reposdng Standards — Subsidiary as a tisse-time adopter @applied for
annual periods beginning on or after | January 2022,

* Amendments to TAS 41 Agriculrure — Taxation in fur value measurements {applicd for annual periods beginning on of afrer 1 Januan

The direcrors do not expect thar the adopdon ot the Srandards listed above will have a marerial impact on the finaneial statements of the
Group in future periods.
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6 Acquisition of subsidiaries

Acquisition during the 2022 financial year
On 31 August 2021 the Group gained control over Hdvancer Eduventures Private Limired by obtaining 100% . of irs shares issued. The
acquisition continued the Group’s entrance in Indian edocation market.

Acquisition during the 2020 financial year

On 6 February 2020 the Group gained control over R3 Education luc and its subsidiarics by obtaining 1004 of its shares issued . The
acquisition expanded rhe Group's presence in a fast-growing market for accredited, graduate-level medical education. R3 Fducation Ing and
its subsidiarics were acquired for a consideration higher its net book value as at the date of acquisition.

On 26 February 2020 the Group guined contzol over Trebas Instirute Ontano Ine. and Trebas Institure Quebec Ine. by obtaining 100% of its
shares issued. Total amount of Consideration is CAD 3 829 thousand.

The results of acquisitions of the companics above are presented below.

Company Name . Country (_)f Type of activity Date of acquisition Group interest, Ve
incerporation
B3 Education, [ne USA Educaton 06.02.2020 100G
Trebas [nstitute Canada Fducation 26.02,2020 100.0
InrerCollege Holding BV, Netherlands Educaton 31.12.2019 100.0

Enformation about the fair vaiue of wentifiable assets and liabilities of acquired companics at the acquisition date is presenied below:

R3 Education

Toc and its ICJ. Trebas Group Total
subsidiaties
Non-current assets
Property, plant and cquipment 48,273 209 198 48,471
Escrow accounts 908 - 968
Preposits and guaranices 230 - 113 343
Deferred tax asset 66 - 60
Current assets
Trade and other receisables 3,543 362 1,018 4,561
Prepaid expenses 1,202 30 82 1,234
Prepaid income tax 443 - 413
l.oans {ssued - - - -
Cash and cash equivalent, 33,279 48 37 35,316
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payvables {2204 (80 {1,000}
Income tax pavable 4,974) - 4,974
Current liabilities
Trade and other pavables (24,362) {129) (803 (24,4423
Prepaid expenses - . 82 32
Accrued expenses (4,013 . - (4,013}
Income tax payable (1.495) - - (1,495)
Deterred income (10,965) {841} {1,443) (12,411)
Total identifiable net agsets at fair value 43274 32D 75 43,199
Non-controlling interest - -
Goodwill arising on acquisition 23,987 1,167 2307 26,294
Gain from a bargain purchase - -
Purchase consideration
Consideration paid i cash and cash equivalents 67,201 846 2,232 (9,493
Liability tor contingent consideration 5 ' -
Total consideration 67,261 846 2,232 69,493
Cash flow on acquisition
Ner eash acquired with the subsidiary 35,279 48 37 33,316
Cash paid (67.261) (B46) (2,232 (69,493)
Net cash inflow (outflow) (31,982 (798) (2,195 (34,177}

As a result of the acquisitions of 1'rebas Group and R3 Education Toc and its subsidiaries acquisivon goodwill was recognised. The goodwill
of GBP 2 307 thousand and GBP 23 987 thousand, respectively, comprise the value of expected svnerges arising from the acquisition. The
goodwill recognised 15 not expected to be deductible for income tax purpases.
In December 2M9 the Group gained control over Inter College Holding BV and it's subsidiaries by obtaining 100 of irs shares issued.
Total amount of Consideration is NUR 991 thausand,
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7 Revenue

J‘\C'ddt‘nllc prugramm(’s

Professional rraining programmes
Language programmes

Reeruitment, retenton and online scrvices
Scholarship and bursaries

Global University Systems Holding BV,
Consolidated Financial Statements
for the vear ended 31 May 2022

Year 18 months
ended 31 May ended 31 May
2022 2021

505,547 655,917
353,529 22,064
4180 AL
46,913 49,908
{9,429y (5,364
583,046 730,275

The provision of recrultment, retention, and online education serviees represents student contracts concluded with a third parry, where the

provision of education is by the third party.

8 Staff costs

Staff costy
The average number of fuli-ume employees, persons

9 Markcting costs

Advertising costs
Online matketing and other marketing expenses

10 Orher operating costs

Rent and rares

Utilitices

Cleaning, security, insurance and mainrenance
Comunission and acquisition costs

Travel costs

Communicadon costs

Professional services

Materials

Parrnership and accredirarion tees

Swudent accommeodation

Bank charges

Recruirment costs

Indircer saxzdon (nerh

Caollection, recovery and bad debt expense
Software licensing and maintenance
Gain/loss; on currency exchange rate fluctuanons

(Orher income, IS xpcnscs)

11 Exceptional costs: derecognition of assets

Derecognition of scerued income

Derecogniton of inrangible assers

Year 18 months
ended 31 May ended 31 May
2022 2021
(238,848 1298,068;
4,442 5,230
Year 18 moenths
ended 31 May ended 31 May
2022 2021
{39,733 (38,716)
(13,404 {13,665)
(53,137 (52,381)
Year 18 monchs
ended 31 May ended 31 May
2022 2021
13,110 (0170
(2419 3,678}
(17,013) (25,821)
{20,032) {22.285)
(7,754 (3,335;
(3,441} 4.016;
(21,880 (28,469
{11,783) (24,457
7,587} {Y,444;
1,438} {2124
(30505 (3,383}
(7,154 76,8125
(6,916} (8.867;
(3,904) 8,480
4,770 (5.404;
83 {26,107)
(34H087) {32,921)
(176,331) (234,077)
Year 18 months
ended 31 May ended 31 May
2022 2021
(3,353} (63,437
- {15,018
(3,533) (80,455)
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12 Finance income

Interest income on transactions with related parties (Note 27)

Other interest

Unwinding of onginal issue discount

13 Finance costs

Finance ralsing coses
Derecogniton of capitalised finance raising costs
Inrerest expenses

Fimance lease expenses

Global University Systems Hlolding BV,
Consolidated Financial Statements
tor the vear ended 31 NMayv 2022

Year 18 months
ended 31 May ended 3 May
2022 2021
8,702 12,661
2121 5,700
3427 7,898
14,250 26,259
Year 18 months
ended 31 N[ay ended 31 l\lay
2022 2021
(1,383 4.275;
[18,034)
{37,018 (53,950
(14,717 (20,363)
{53,123) (96,622)

Finance raising costs include the costs incurred by the Group in raising debr capiral and original issue discount neluding in respect of the sale
of rccewvables (for the vear ended 31 May 2022 it GBP; 2021 - GBP 3 619 thousand).

14 Property, plant and equipment
. . i Leaschold Computer Furniture,
Right of use ::l?;g"md improve- equipment fixtures and Vchicles Total
assets uiidings ments and ather fittings
Cost
as at 30 November 2019 266,892 47,418 19,705 21,280 20,294 184 375,773
Additions 53,381 2,116 14,616 4,851 1,931 - 76,895
Acquisidon of a new Subsi(liary - 40,343 2,433 3,854 2,000 6O6 49,357
Disposals (GGYY {286 331) (370 (13) (1,672)
Effect of rranslation to presentation cutrency - (3,562 {956) (1,211 (557) (57) (8,343)
as at 31 May 2021 319,605 84,029 35,489 28,400 23,754 733 492,010
Addidons 16,038 2202 3,573 4,195 2,725 a5 28,828
Disposals (35 4,197y {(705) (9735 {51y (5,963)
Effect of translation w presentarion currency - 5,742 1,187 1,228 440 78 8,681
as at 31 May 2022 335,643 91,938 36,052 33,118 25,950 855 523,556
Accumulated depreciation
as at 30 November 2019 - (17,242) (11,564) (10,381) (12,780) (85) (52,052)
Depreciation for the pericad (41,971) (2,682) (7,113) (6,091) (3,947 (240) (62,050)
Acquisition of the new Subsigliary - - (278} (1,052} (137} - (1,467)
Disposals - . R . -
Effect of translation o presentaion currency - 323 324 1.222 4072, 28 2,499
as at 31 May 2021 @1,971 (19,601) _ (18,331) _ (16,302) _ (16,362) G03) (13,070)
Depreciation for the period (27,825) (1,348 (6,452 (4824) (2324 {150 (42,934)
Disposals 4,141 704 961 31 5,857
Effecr of translation to presentation currency - (964} (620 (718 277 (38) (2,617)
as at 31 May 2022 {69,796) {21,913) (21,362) (21,140) (18,102) (451) (152,764)
Net book value
as at 31 May 2021 277,634 64,428 17,058 12,098 7,292 430 378,940
as at 31 May 2022 265,847 70,025 14,690 11,978 7,848 404 370,792

The Group's property, plant and equipment with carrving value of GBP 31 447 thousand were pledged as collateral as at 31 May 2022 (31

May 20210 GBP 35 671 thousand) (Note 32).

As at the reporiing date Group has no contractuad liabilites for the purchase of property, plant and cquipment,

The gross carrying amount of fully depreciared property, plant and equipment in use, excluding leasehold improvement, as at 31 May 2022 is

GBP 23 468 thousand (2021: GBP 22 782 thousand).

As at 31 May 2022 and 31 May 2021, impairment indicators were analysed by the Managemenrt of the Group. No indicators of impairment ot

property, plant and equipmient were revealed as a1 those reporting dates.
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15 Latangible asscts
Customer Course
Rrand relation- A Websites Software Total
. materials
ships
Cost
as at 30 November 2019 45,515 12,641 3,861 6,979 56,118 125,114
Additions . 219 7 1,499 2,889
Acquisition of a new subsidian 49 - 429 - Ji4 882
Disposals - .
Effecr of rranslation o presentation curtency (836) (284) (1) (2 (200 (1,323)
as at 31 May 2021 44,728 12,357 5,208 7,048 58,221 127,562
Additions 6 . 319 283 2,445 3,053
Disposals - h (2.000; (88) (2,097)
Effecr of rranziation to presentarion currencs 336 1,064 18 1 226 1,665
as at 31 May 2022 45,090 13,421 5,536 5,332 60,804 130,183
Accumulated depreciation
as at 30 November 2019 - (4,550) (1,572) (2,544) (18,794) (27,4600
Amortisaton for the period (5] (1,503) (1,088) 4B} (11,835) (14,464)
Acquisiton of a new subsidiary ()] - (54 - (337 (400)
Disposals - - - -
Lmpaiement loss - - - - (I3,018) (15,018)
Tiffect of rranslation 10 presentaion currency 198 28 1 187 414
as at 31 May 2021 13 (5,855) (2,686) (2,557) (45,817) (56,928)
Amortisation for the period (1,033) {733) (53) (7,085) (8,904)
Disposals - - - 2,000 16 2,016
Fffect of translation to presentation currency 563) 7, (2 (140} (720)
as at 31 May 2022 (13) (7,453) (3,426) (612) (583,032) (64,536)
Net book value
as at 31 May 2021 44,15 6,502 2,522 4,491 12,404 70,634
as at 31 May 2022 45,077 5,968 2,110 4,720 7,772 65,647

The gross carrving amount of fully deprecuated intangible assets as ar 31 May 2022 is GBP 9 448 thousand (31 May 2021: GBP 6 964
thousand?.

16 Goodwill

The ner carrving amount of goodwill at 31 bMayv 2022 and 31 May 2021 is GBP 181 303 thousand.

The Group performs irs annual impairment test as ar 31 May, As at 31 May 2022 and 31 May 2021 neo impairment was identified. The
recoverible amount of CGLUs has been derermined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections from finaneial budgers for
five vears approved by senior management. The growth rares used o exurapolare cash flow projectons for terminal period are 2% for R3
Education Inc., 2% for InrerCollege Amsterdam, 2% for Lniversity of Law, L8« for Arden and LCCM AL UK Liruted, 130 for LBAT
3¢ for Institute of Technology and Tnnovation Tad and 3 for India Group. The pre-tay discount rares, CGUs weighted average cost of
capital, applied ro cash flow projections for the tmpairment rest at 31 May 2022 were 9,2% for Arden, 5,370 tor LCCM AU UK Limired, 8,8
for LB.AT. Limired, 14,170 for Institute of Technology and Tnnovation Tid, 13,29 for India &Group, 12,17 for R3 Tducaton Inc, 9.2V for
InterCollege Amsterdam and 9,270 for Universine of Law (31 May 2021: 8.3, 8,370, 8800, 14,170, 13,1%0, 110, 8,3%, 8,3%0),
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17 Loans issued and other financial assets
31 May 2022 31 May 2021
Non-current financial assets
Long-term loans issued to related parties (Note 27) 200,027 191,877
Current financial assets
lLoans issucd 29515 28,786
loans issucd to related parties (Note 27) 69,146 46,011
Allowance on expected credin losses tor loans issued {14,830y (14,201}
83,831 60,596
283,838 232,473

Long-term loans issued to relaged parties represented by loans issued to Academic Bridge B with principal amoune toulling to GBD 166
935 thousand (31 May 2021: GBP 167 451 thousand) and outstandmg interest accrued totalling to GBP 33 073 thousand (31 May 2021 GBP
24 426 thousand). Loans are expected to be repaid in 2024 or later, interese rate for loans is 5,2 Ya.

The Group's current financial assets amounting to GBP 24 806 thousand were pledged as collateral as ar 31 May 2022 (31 Mav 2021: GBP 24
135 thousand) (Note 32).

Expected credit losses for loans issued are determined based on analysis of loans issued for potental crediv losses (impairment) on individual
basis. The Group recognized allowance for expected credit losses in respect of short rerm loans issued.

18 Deposits and guarantees
31 May 2022 31 May 2021
Rent deposits 7,200 7,116
7,200 7,116

Rent deposits are represented by security deposits paid by Group companies w0 the lessors at the inception of the lease in compliance with the

lease AUTECMENTS.

19 Trade and other receivables
31 May 2022 31 May 2021
Trade receivables 391,888 268,103
Orther receivables 44032 3,168
Allowance for expected credit losses {40,310 (29,907)
353,607 261,364

The Group applies a sumplified approach introduced by IFRS 9 to measure the expected credit losses. Under chis approach, the expected
credit losses allowance is measured as lifctime espected credit losses and applics to all trade receivables. To measute the especred credit
losses, trade receivables were grouped by reference to general characteristics of the credir risk and a number of days past due.

The expected credit loss mtes are based on migration of trade receivables over a period of 12 months or 24 months ended 31 May and the
corresponding historical eredir losses incurred for this period. The historical foss rates are not adjusted to reflect the currenr and forccasted
information on macroeconomic factors, as the obligatons to fulfil the terms of conrracts have a short-teym nature and the effect of
adjustments is immarerial. [n respect of current year trade reccivables with similar characteristics o those that the Group has in the past sold,
the average historic original issue discount on such is also considered when estimating the expected credit losses rate.

The credit loss allowance for rrade receivables is determined according to provision the matrix presenred in the table below. The provision
wnatrix is based on the number of davs that an asset is past due. The table contains the ageing of trade receivables as ar 31 May 2022,

31 May 2022
Gross carxying Expected loss Expected credit
amount rate’* losses
Not past due 236,435 (.81 (1,925
Past due 1-30 days 48,002 (.35% {168;
Past due 31-90 days 28,922 4119 (1,194
Pasc due 91 180 days 32,318 1381% (3,492)
Past due [81-270 days 16,690 14,78% (2,467)
Past due 271-360 days 8,594 2T (6,202)
Past due over 360 days 24,870 100004 (24,870
395,921 (40,314)
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19 Trade and other receivables (continued)

The table cantains the agemng of trade receivables as at 31 May 2021,

Gross carrying

Global University Svstems Holding B
Consolidared Financial Statcments
for the vear ended 31 May 2022

31 May 2021

Expected loss Expected credit

amount rate¥ lusses

Not past due 220569 .25 (54M
Pasc due 1 30 days 3059 6.22¢%, (1943
Past due 31-90 days 20,986 12.16" (2,553;
Past due 91 180 days 15,520 30.24% (1,693
Past due 181-270 di{ys 12,049 31.98% {3‘354)
Past due 271-360 days 3716 7254 (2,6%6)
Past due over 360 days 15,373 1O (153,573

291,272 {29,908)

The Group's trade receivables of GBP 237 8§43 were pledged as collareral as ar 31 May 2022 (GBP 235 930 as at 31 May 2021).

20 Prepaid expunses and accrued income

Non-current accrued income

Accrued income

Prepaid expenses and current accrued income
Prepayments

Accrued income

31 May 2022 31 May 2021

45,491 28 407
35190 20901
69,263 38,028

104,455 67,029

149,946 96,336

The Group's prepaid expenses and acerued mcome amounting to GBP 144 035 thousand were pledped as cotlateeal as au 31 Mayv 2022 (3]
May 2021 prepaid expenses and acerued income amounting to GBP 814 928 thousand) (Nore 32).

Expected credit losses for accrued mcome are measured by the Group oo the buasis of the repayment profiles of other accrued income over a
period of 21 months befare 31 May 2022, corresponding historical credit losses expericaced within rhis period and considering the dme value
of 1neney. Amount ol HCLL for acerued income is insign_iﬁc:mt, Following the inparment charge applied in amount of GBP 3 533 thousand
(18 months ended 31 May 2021: GRBP 65 437 thousand) (Note 1),

A Cash and cash equivalents

31 May 2022 31 Muay 2021

Cash in bank in GBP 261,851 277782
Cash n bank in USD 157,324 126,515
Cashoin bank in EUR 16,843 19,312
Cash in bank in CAD 37,953 9,896
Cash in bank in SGID 106 8
Cash in bank in 1.5 145 219
Cazh in bhank in CZK 21 -
Cash in Lank in PHP 81 1060
Cash in bank in [NR 173 62
Short werm deposit in CAD 297 232
Cash in wransie 2,153 32
Cash in hand 1,362 1,319

478,312 435,477

Cash in bank is no impaired.
The Group's cash and cash equivalenrs of GBP 427 412 thousand were pledged as coltarcral as ar 31 May 2022 (31 May 2021 GBP 322 240
thousand ; (Note 325,

22 Cash retained at escrow account

Cash rerained ar escrow account as at 31 May 2022 represented by cash at escraw amounting to GBP 930 thousand fequivalent LSD 1 201
thousand? reaained for R3 bducation Tonc purposes and GBP 42 thousand fequivalent of EUR 47 thousand as ar 31 May 2022).

23 Equity

31 May 2022 31 May 2021
Aurhorised share capiral 158 158
Unpaid share capital 1261 {126,
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23 Equity {continued)

Share capital of Global Universitn Systems Huolding BV, amounts w GBP 32 thousand (EUR 3¢ thousand) and comprises one class of
comnoen shares with hominal value of 1 EUR per share. The number of authorised shares 13 180 000 shares.

Ln August 2014 London School of Business and Finance (UK) Limited has issned perperuat unsecured subordinared non-transferrable bonds,
offered to the members of the company’ only, in the amount of thousand 5 400 GB3P.

In the years ended 31 May 2022 and 31 Mavr 2021 dividend payments were subject to certain resericidons applicable from time to time in
accordance with the terms of the Group's Senior Facilities Agreement from 30 January 2020. As of the date of these financial statements,
dividend payments are subject to certain restrictions applicable from time to time in accordance with the Group's Senior Facilities Agreement

from 30 January 2020,

24 T.oans and bun-uwings

Non-current loans and borrowings

31 May 2022

31 May 2021

Long-term loans 038,627 960,502
Long-term loans transacuon costs 2,355 (2.817)
956,272 963,685

Current loans and borrowings
Overdratts and other loans 49,132 17,155
[rierest on horrowing, 1,315 1,373
Short-term loans from related partics Note 27) 13,165 11,626
63,612 30,154

25 Trade and other payables

31 May 2022

31 May 2021

Trade pavables 81,307 43,316
Pavables for wages and salaries 5,223 6,563
Pavables for unused vaications 341 341
Other pavables 59,137 73,392

146,008 123,812

Other payables are represented mainle by accrunls on rent agreements,

26 Corporate tax

lncome tax includes provision due to chuﬂgc n ;\cc()unling reterence date CUmpAnics. Ahj‘ ditterences berween tax estimares and final tax

assessments are charged to the income statement in the period in which they are incurred, unless anticipated.

For the caleulation of the corporate income tax provision of the Group’s companies registered in England the rate of 19% was used.

Year ended 31 18 months ended 31
May 2022 May 2021

Corporation tax in respect of current year 13,086 13,796
Adjustument in respect of prior years - -
Total current tax 13,086 15,796
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of dming difterences (15,314} 10,926)
Total deferred tux (15,314) (10,926)
Income rax expenses (income; {2,228) 4,870

Year ended 31

18 months ended 31

May 2022 May 2021
Profit before tax from continuing operations 51,749 {33,908)
Tax on ordinary activity using the UK headline corporation tax rate 9,832 (10,634)
Effects of:
Ettect of1ax rare In fureign jursdictions and tems which are not (12,060} 15,504
Previously unrecognisce tax losses utilised in current vear - -
Adjustment in respect of prior years )
Unrecogmsed ax losses - -
Tax charge (benefit) in the income statement (2,228) 4,870
Effective tax tate % ~this document s sigQtgligitaly—
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26 Corporate tax (continued)

Global University Systems Holding B.A .

Consolidated Financial Statements
for the vear ended 31 May 2022

Movements in temporary difterences duaring the vear ended 31 May 2022 and 18 months ended 31 May 2021 are as follows:

31 May 2022

Recognised in

31 May 2021

Deferred 1ax Deferred tax Translation Deferred Deferred tax
asset liability profitand difference tax asset liabitlity
) losses
Finance lease Habilites 51,0448 - 2,964 31,684 -
Property, plane and equipment 1,380 (47,529 2412 - - {d¥,3061)
Trade and other reccivables 10,2090 - 3,283 6,926 -
Incangible assets . {3,644} (2,843} - - {796;
Tax losses carried forward - 5,327 4.148 1,379
Trade and other pavables 10,394 1,304 4847 - 7031 -
Orirher financial assets 3211 69 508 - 27" E
Net deferred tax asset (liability) 80,042 (44,273) 15,314 - 69,812 _(49,357)
31 May 2021 . Translat 30 November 2019
Recognised Recognised .
Deferred Deferrcd in profit in equity d.;;n Deferred Deferred rax
tax asset ) ta-x‘ and losses (IFRS 16 ! ‘eren tax assct liability
liability adoption) ce
f.oans and borrowings 51,684 - 1,106 1378 - - -
Property, plant and equipment . {48,560 3,142 (30L337) 38} - 11,108;
Trade and other receivables 6,920 - 4039 - - 4,952 {2,083
Totangible assers (796 (333 - 14 27T
Tax losses carried torward 1,379 - Laaly - (32) 3,292 -
Trading losses =051 6,057 (81 1,075
Trade and other pavables 2772 - 1,044 - - 3316 -
Net deferred tax asset (Liability) 69,812 (49,357) 10,926 41 _am 13,135 (3,470
27 Related party transactions
According to existing criteria of determination of related parties, the relared parties of the Group are presented by caregories.
The ultimae controlling party is The Heritage Trust.
Transacdons and balances with related parties
The tollowing balances are oustanding ar the end of the reporting petiod in relation to transacdouns with relared parties:
Nate 31 May 2022 31 May 2021
Qutstanding balances with related parties
Loans issued to the parenr company 17 200,027 191,877
Loans 1ssued to other related partics 17 6O, 146 40,011
Loans issued ‘received from relared parrice 24 13,163 11,626
Transactions with related parties
Interest income on transactions with related parties 12 #7002 12.601
Rccciptf from (pa?'mums ) on aceount of reimbursement of expenscs 33 507 13507
and assignment of prepaymenis at fair value ’ ’
Remuncration of key management personnel
Year 18 months
ended 31 May ended 31 May
2022 2021
Wages and salaries 18,1130 18,581
18,036 18,581
The average number of kev management personnel, persons 79 63
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28 Reconciliation of labilities’ arising from financial activities
The table below details the changes in the Group’s liabilides atising from financial activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activiges are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be classified in Group’s cash How

statement as cash flows from financing activides.

Interest accrued

Cash flows from and
18 months . i Year
financing derecognition of
ended 31 May activity finance raising Forex Other changes* ended 31 May

2021 ’ costs 2022
Loans and horrowings §93,339 (4.725) 36,028 {8,080 3322 1,019,884
Finance lease liabilites 292139 (35,393 14,680 5,567 16,5373 293,568
1,285,978 (40,118) 50,708 {3,013) 19,897 1,313,452

Orther changes presented by increase of loans due tw loans transaction costs amortisation ameunting to GBP 2 118 thousand and not-
capitalised tinance rased cost GBP 777 shousand and loans transaction costs paid amounting to GBP 427,

Orher changes for financial lease labilities were presented by recognition of Right of use asset of GBP 15 390 thousand and changes in low-
value leases of 1 183 thousand.

29 Management of financial risks

Operating environment

The principal business zetivities of the Group are within the United Kingdom, Canada, Singapore, Ireland, India, Isracl, the Nerherlands, the
Caribbean and Germany in additon to the provision of services and online courses globally. The Management considers that a number of risk
factors and uncertindes affece the Group’s business, including: the general economic enviromnent and competition; reputadonal risks;
regulatory risks; and financial risks (see below). While the Groups management has developed specific plans o deal with cach of chose risk
areas and the directors consider such plans to be adequate, not all risk factors are within management’s conrrol. Other risks and uncertalnries
not listed above could also affect the company.

Financial tisk factors

The Group's activitics cxpose it to a varicty of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and lquidity risk. Fhe Group's overall risk management
programtne focuses on the unpredictabiline of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effeces on the Group's finaacial
performance. Risks are managed centrally,

This note presents information about Group's exposure of each type of risks, objectives of risk management, policy and procedutes of
assessment and management, as well as approaches to capital management. Addidonal qualitadve and quantitative information is disclosed
through the overall financial starements,

Credit risk is a risk of financial loss (o the Group, which resules from failure of a buver or a contractor under a financial instrument o fulfil its
contractual obligations. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposies in banks as well as credit exposures to customers, including
vutstanding receivables, Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk, primarily consist of
accounts receivable. Management systemarically reviews credit risk of receivables, taking into account financia position of customers, their
credit history and other factors.

Ar 31 Mav 2022, 20.8% of the Group's accrued income and teceivables was accounted for by five major contracts (20210 24.2%, 201%:
43.6%s). The Group forms an estimated allowance for trade and other receivables. The amount of the allowance depends on the individual
assessment of cach particular contractor,

The Group forms an estimated dlowance for rrade and other receivables. The nmount of the allowance depends on the individual assessment
of cach particular contractor.

3 May 2022 31 May 2021

L.oans issued and other financial asscts 298,688 266,674
Accrued income 114,756 66,435
Trade and other reecivables 355,607 261,362
Cash and cash equivalents 478,312 435 477
1,247,363 1,029,948

Distribution of financial assets by maturiies is as follows:

Loans issued and short term deposits

31 May 2022

31 May 2021

TUndue 2UH.088 266,674
Past due - -

Trade and other receivables
Undue 234510 220018
Past due 121,097 41,344
654,295 528,036
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29 Management of financiat risks (continued)

Reconciliation from opening balinee of expecred credit losses to that at reporting dawe 1s presented as follows.

;:z::il::; Loans issued Total
Expected credit loss as at 30 November 2019 (14,073) (12,829) (26,902)
Change due to movemenrt for the petiod (13.142) (L.760) 13.502)
Write orfs -
Changes in models, risk parameters (2,647 kh (2,264
Forcign exchange and other movements (16) (46)
Expected credit loss as at 31 May 2021 (29,908) (14,202) (44,110)
Ch.’lngc due o mioverment for the period 116,577} 62y 16,630
W rire-ofrts - - -
Changes in modcls ‘risk parameters 3,797 (568) 5,229
Foreign exchanyge and other movements 374 - 374
Expected credit loss as at 31 May 2022 (40,314} (14,832) (55,146)

Management estimates are that the carrying value of trade receivables faisly reflects especied pavments.

The Group does not hold collatetal as a security lor financial assets.

Management estimates are that the carrving value of trade receivables fairly reflects expected pavments. Trade recehvables that are past due
but not impaired relate to customers for whomy there is nn recent history of eredie problents and where munagentcae belicves collection is
Probable.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able fo meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group's approach o the
management aof Jiquid funds is based on ensuring thar the Group has sufficient liquidity w0 perform irs financal obligations when duc {both in
normal and emergeney conditionst by avoiding unacceptable losses or the risk of deterioration of s reputation.

Liquidis risk management implics maintaining the availabilicy of funding through an adequate amount of  cash and cash equivalents.
Management analyses tegularly terms of scitlement of obligations and receipes from financial assets, monnors the expected cash flows from
operating activiries,

Distribution of financial Habilitics by maturities is as follows:

as at 31 May 2022 within 30  from30to from 60to  more than 90 Total
days 60 days 90 days days
Trade pavables AT 2,084 THG 3,963 81,307
l.oans and borrowings 134 156 967 961,887 993,164
Finance lease labilines 1,726 621 503 287718 293,568
Other pzly;l'nlcs 29,625 - - 29512 59,137
108,979 2,861 2,256 1,313,080 1,427,176
as at 31 May 2021 within 30 from 30 to  from 60 to  more than 90 Total
days 60 days 90 days davs
Trade payables 41,325 £.422 331 3,387 46,665
Provision 5 b:3 b KL} 102
L.oans and borrowings 332 346 335 1,149 687 1,150,720
Finance lease Labilitics 1,739 63 63 287,274 292,139
Orcher pay ables 50,363 - - 13,189 63,552
96,787 1,839 937 1,453,615 1,553,178

Market risk

Market risk, associated with financial instruments, is the risk of change of fair value of Anancal inscramenes or the foture eash Hows expected
from a financial msirument, owing to change ininterest rares, exchange races, prices for the commaodities or other market indicators. From
the risks listed above the Group is essentially exposed to the nshs associared with changes in exchange rares.

Forcign currency risk

Foreign currency ek is the risk thae the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument wilt fluctuale because of changes 1 foregn
exchange rares. The Group's exposure 1o the risk of changes in forelgn exchange rates relares primarily to the Group's operating activities
“when revenue or expense are denominated in a difterent currency from the Crroup's functional currency;. Such transactons are carred out
mainly in GBP, USD, CAD, SGD, LU'R, CHF, INR. 18l The Group's exposure o Torcign currency changes for all other cinrencies s
insignificant.
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29 Management of financial risks (continued)
The sensitivity o the change in VST of rhe Giroup's protic before cax:

Amount of financial instrument as

Global University Systems Holding By,
Consolidated Financial Statements
tor the vear ended 31 May 2022

Increase Effect on profit before tax as at
at
{decrease) in
31 May 31 May exchange ratc, % 31 May 31 May
2022 2021 2022 2021
) L0 15732 12,652
Cash and cash equivalents 157,324 126,515 1o (15,732 (12,652)
i 0 9427 5,174
Accrued income 94,265 51,745 ) ;
¢ : 2h 0 (9,427 (5,171}
10 - _
Tong-term loans o
Total effect of change in 251,589 175260 11 25,159 17,826
exchange rate » ’ n (25,159) (17,826)
The sensitiviry to the change in EUR of the Group's profit before tax:
Amount of ﬁnnnc‘la.! instrument as Increase Effect on profit before tax as at
a
decrease) i
31 May 31 May (decrease) in 31 Moy 31 May
exchange rate, %
2022 2021 2022 2021
. 10 1,684 1,931
Cash and cash equivalents 16,813 19512 a0 (1.55;4) (1,931
. 10 139 03
Acerued income 1,390 1,080 i’ (139) (108)
_ e 10 (93,627 (83,723,
Long-term loans {856,272) (837,234 10 955627 83,723
Total effect of change in 938.039 836,842 10 (93,804) (83,684)
exchange rate (938,03%) (836,842) 10 93,804 83,684

Accurding 10 Management assessments, as of the reporting date the Group's exposure to foreign currency risk was within an acceprable level,

so hedging instruments were not used. This position is being continuously cvaluared.

Financial instruments

There was no difference between carrving amounts and fair values of financial instruments as au all reporting dates.

Fair valuc

The following table provides the fair value measurement hicrarchy of the Group's financial insteuments for which fair values are disclased as

at 31 May 2022:

Total carrying

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables - -

Accrued income

Financial assers - -

Cash and cash cquivalents

Financial liabilitics

Loans and borrowings

V'inance lease kabilities -
Trade and other pavables

Provisions B

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 ‘Total fair value
amount
355,607 355,607 355,607
114,736 114,736 114,756
298,688 298 088 208,688
478,312 478,312 478,312
- - 1,247,363 1,247,363 1,247,363
1,019,884 1,019,884 1,019,884
- 293,568 293 568 293568
141,785 140,785 140,783
102 102 102
- - 1,454,339 1,454,339 1,454,339
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29 Management of financial risks (continued)

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimare fair values:

Fair value of cash and receivables, other current financial assets and Liabilities approximates their carrying amounrs largely due to the short-
term maturiies of these instruments.

Non current rrade receivables and accrued income are measured at amordsed cost using the effective inrerest rare method.

The fair value of unquoted instruments, loans from banks and other financial habilities, as well as other non-current financial liabilities i
estimated by discounting future eash flows using rates currently available for debt on similar tenos, credir risk and remaining marurities,

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensute that endties of the Group will be able ro continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
the equity holders through maintaining a balance between the higher returns that might be pussible with higher levels of borrowings and the
security atforded by a sound capital position. The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on a regular basis. Based on the
results of this review, the Group takes steps to balance its overall capital siructure through the issue of new debr or the redemption of
existing delt.

Gearing rario

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure of the Group. As part of this review, the management considers the cast of capital
and the risks agsociated with cach clasy of capital.

31 May 2022 31 May 2021
Debr habilites” 1,314,492 1.287,422
Cash and cash equivalenes 478,312 435477
Net debt 836,180 851,945
Equiry 160,722 101,303
Total capital 996,902 953,250
Gearing ratio 83.9% 89.4%

30 Leascs

This note provides information tor leases where the Group is a lessce, For vight of use assers’ carryving value, see note 1

The Group has lease enatracts for sarious tems of propertes used in its operations. Leases of property generally have lease terms berween |
and 23 vears.

The lease agreements do not impose any eovenants, but leased assets may nor be used as securniry for borrowing purposes.

Generally, the Group is not restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assers.

Set out below are the carrving ameounrs of righr-of-use assets recognised and the movemenes tor the vear ended 3t May 2022:

Property Furniture  Equipment Vehicles Total
As atr 31 May 2021 275,872 1,700 62 - 277,634
Additions 20,711 () 62 31 20,796
Cal)imliscd expenses related o lease - - - - -
Depreciation expenses (133) G i3 {26,212
Disposals - - - (1,583;
Remeasuremeat . - {4,758
As at 31 May 2022 1,237 93 - 265,847

Ser out below are the carrying amountts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements tor 18 months ended 31 May 2021:

Property Furniture  Equipment Vehicles Total

As at 1 December 2019 264,577 2,224 B - 266,892
Additions 33,183 198 - - 53,381
Capitalised expenses relared to lease - - - -
Depreciation expenses 41,250 (GY0 (2% 41,971
Disposals {636} (32} - - {608,
Remeasurement - :

As at 31 May 2021 275,872 1,700 62 - 277,634

For the vear ended 31 Mayv 2022 and 18 months ended 31 May 2021 the line item Disposals presented cost and accumulared depreciation set
oft dug 1o expiration or carly termination of lease agreements.
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30 Leases {continued)

Sct out helow are the carrving amounts of lease liabilities and the movenents for the vear ended 31 May 2022;

As at 31 May 2021 292,139
Addutions 16,5375
Accretion of interest 14,680
Forex on lease Labnlity 5,367
Pavments (35,393
As at 31 May 2022 293,568

Current lease liabilitics 21,608

Non-currene lease linbibities 271 960

Set ot below are the carrving amounts of lease liabilites and the movaments for 18 months ended 31 May 2021:

As at 1 December 2019 266,653
Additions 53,069
Aceretion of interest 20,363
Fores on lease liability (2,424
Pavments (45,522}
As at 31 May 2021 292,139

Current lcase habilitics 19,794

Non-current lease Labilines 272345

The future minimuin lease payments and the present value of net nminimum lease payments as of 31 May 2022 and 31 May 2021 were
presented as follows:

Year ended 31 18 months ended

Minimum lease payments: May 2022 31 May 2021

Less than 1 vear (curtent portion) 30,468 33,854
Between [ and 5 vears 134,335 128,540
More than 3 years 243,306 237,448
Total minimum lease payments 415,809 419,848
[ess the future cost of financing (122.241) (127.,709)
Total present value of minimum lease payments 293,568 292,139
Less the current portion of the lease labilities {21,608) (19,79-4)
Total long-term lease liabilities 271,960 272,345

Below are presented additional quantitative and qualitaove lease disclosures.

(7} Recognised in profir and loss
The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 May 2022 and 18 months ended 31 May 2021:

Note Year ended 31 18 months ended
May 2022 31 May 2021

Included in the cost of sales, administrative or distribution costs:

Depreciation eapense of right-of-use assets 11 27825 42 639
Expense relating to leases ol low-value assets 29 29
Variable leasc payments not included n the measurement of lease liabilities - -
Included in operating cost

Tarex on lease labiliy 3,567 (2,424
Interest expense on lease liabilities 13 14,717 20,363
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 48,138 60,607

L. Other disclosures
The Group had total cash ourflows for leases of GBP 33 393 thousand for the year ended 31 May 2022 (GBP 45 522 tor the year ended 31
NMay 20213,
The most of lease conrracts of rhe Group include extension and termination options, These options are negotiated by management to provide
fleaibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio snd align with the Group’s business neads, The majonty of extension and termination options
hetel are exercisable only by the group and nor by rhe respecrive lessor. Managemenr excreises significant judgement in determining whether
these extension and termination opiions will be exercised.
As at 31 May 2022, porential future rental payments of GBP 93 137 (undiscounted) thousand have been included in the lease liability as it is
reasonably certain that the leases will be extended (or not terminated).
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31 Contingent assets and liabilities

The Group has made 1 commitment 1o issue share option scheme under which options to subscrtbe for the Group's shares are to be granted

to certain exceutives and senior employees. During the reporting periad no transactions under share option scheme were pertormed.

The Management of the Group considers that lingation and claims by third parties are not material and have ne impact on the reg
economic acrvity of the Group.

The Group is subject ta certain covenants related primarily to its borrowings. Non-compliance with such covenants may result in negative
conscquences for the Group including increase n the cost of borrowings and declaradon of default. In the current period the Group was in
compliance with the covenaats.

A significant proportion ot the Group’s business involves the provisinn ot higher cducadion to studenis in the United Kingdom. The
implementation by the Lnited Kingdom of the BEuropean Union Principal VAT Direcove in domestic Jegisladon, regulatons and policy
documents, including in respect of operational matters, continues to evolve, The primany legislation and regulations are not always clearly
written and are subject o varying interpretations by the tax authority, the rax rribunals and the couers. [nstances of inconsistent
interpretations are not unusual,

The uncerninty of inconsistent enforcement and application of domestic VAT laws as they apply ro the provision of higher educarion (which

i« exempt from the scope of VAT in the Principal Directive), creates a risk of additonal rax liabilitics being assessed by the ax authorin,
Insofar such asscssmems are madce i respect of historic periods, they can also be subject to a claim for penaltics and interest. Whilst it is not
possible to reliably estimate the probability or quantum of all such assessments, such chims, if made and sustained, may have a material eftect
on the Group’s finaveial position, results of operations and cash flows.

As of the date of these financial statements. 2 dispute exisrs berween a number of Group companies in the UK and the rax authority as 1o the
correct application of the Principal VAT Dircetive education exemption. In conncetion with the same dispute, the Group made in the current
vear pavments on account of value added rax and recognised these paymenrs as a fong-term tax receivable asser of GBP 8 000 thousand,
because it is believed that this amount is more likels than not would be refundable to the Group in the future. Given the possibility of
prejudice to the Group’s positon, i is impractical to disclose the full value of porental furure Uabilities under the dispure. Ar the same time,
the tax authority has raised a number of assessments in respect ot historic periods which are also subject to the dispute. Because the Group's
evaluation is thar it is more likely than not that such assessment would not become due and pavable on the conclusion of rhe dispure, and as
the assessments concern a point of legal pranciple on the correct apphcation of the primary legalisation, do not cover all hisrorie perivds and
do not take into account the offsctiing cifect of nput tax, it is not possible at present w estimate the quantwm (if any) of a contingent liability
assoctated with the same.

At the same dme there is a risk thar transactions and interprenations that have not heen challenged in the past may be challenged by the
authorines in the future, although chis risk siymficantly diminishes with passage of tme. It is nor practcal o determine the amount of any
potental claims or the likclihood of any unfavourable outcome.

As of 31 May 2022 and 31 May 2021 the Group did not have contractual commitments for rhe acquisition of fixed tangible and intangible
assets.

32 Pledged assets

[n connection with loan senior facilitics agreement the Group pledged as tixed or tloating charges the following assets:

31 May 2022 31 May 2021
Property, pluat and equipment 31,447 35,671
Trade and other receivables 237,845 235,930
Accrued income 111,756 66,435
Prepaid expenses 20279 18,493
Oirther financial assers 24,860
Cash and cash cquivalenrs 427 412
(ash retained In escrow acgount 930

886,553 723,792
33 Events after the reporting date

Management of the Group states that after the reporting date there wore no other eveats, for which these eonsolidated tinancial statemenes
require adjustments or disclosures.
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Revenue
Other income
Total income

Expenditure:

Staff costs

Marketing costs
(ther operating coses
Total expenditure

EBITDA

Depreciation and amortsation

Income {loss) due o changes in value of
financial asser at fair value through profiy or loss
Exceprional costs: derecognition of assets

Gain from sale of subsidiary

Forex on borrowings

Finance income

Tinance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax {expenses)/income
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Non-controlling interest
Profit for the year attributable to parent shareholder
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

Cther comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods:

T.ffect of forezn currency translauon

Net gther comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Non-controlling interest
Total comprehensive income attributable to parent shareholder

EBITDA

Cumulative effect of changes in accounting standards m
EBITDA (constant IFRS)

Exceptional and noo-recusring items

Adjusted EBITDA

Proforma adjustement for Trinity and Trebas

Proforma adjusted EBITDA

Year 18 months
ended 31 May ended 31 May
2022 2021
583,046 730,275
23,362 30,671
606,408 760,946
(238,848) (298,168)
(33,137} {52,381)
(176,331} (234,077
(468,316) (584,520)
138,092 176,420
(31,833) 77,182)
G)] -
(3,333 (80,455)
- 4,035
8,001 {8,445)
14,230 26,259
(33,123 (96,622)
51,749 (55,970)
2,229 4,873
53,978 (60,840)
77 (4)
53,901 (60,836)
4,405 (9,872)
4,405 (9,872)
4,405 (9,872)
58,383 (70,712)
77 (4)
58,306 {70,708)
138,092 176,420
(498 (34,798)
137,594 141,621
34,230 67,821
171,844 209,442
B 1,460
171,844 210,909

{1} The cumularive effect includes the impact of the implementation of IFRS 9 and TFRS 15 {(firse implemented in FY19) and TFRS 16 (first implemented in
FY20). In accordance with the definitions in the Scaior Faciliics Agrecment, and to be comparable with prior periods, these IERS adjusunents are added

back ro the Consolidated FRTTD A,
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

A. Report on the audit of the consolidated special purpose financial statements for the
year ended May 31, 2022

Audit Opinion

We have audited the accompanying special purpose financial statements for the year ended
May 31, 2022 of Global University Systems [Holding B.V. based in Amsterdam, as set out
on pages 4 to 35, The financial statements include the consolidated financial staternents.

In our opinion:

» the accompanying consolidated special putposc financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of Global University Systems Holding B.V. as at May 31,
2022, and of its result and its cash flows for 2022 in accordance with International
Financial Reportng Standards as adopted by the Furopean Union (EU-IFRS) and with
Part 9 of Bock 2 of the Durch Civil Code.

The consohdated financial statements comprise:
1 the consolidated statement of financial positon as at Mav 31, 2022;

2 the tollowing statements tor the vear ended May 31, 2022:
the consolidated statement of income, the consolidated statements of comprehensive
mcome, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidared sratement of cash

flows; and

3 the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information,
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Basis for Our Opinion

As mentioned in note 2.2 in the consolidated financial statements, these consolidated
financial staternents, with our veport included, are not intended to be statutory financial
statements as prescribed by Dutch law.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on
Auditing. Qur responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Our
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” section of our report.

We are independent of Global University Systems Holding B.V. in accordance with the
Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdracheen (Vi(),
Cuade of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence)
and other relevant independence teguladons in the Netherlands. Furthermore we have
complied with the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code
of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obrained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

B. Report on the other information included in the annual report

In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report
contains other information, that consists oft

*  the statement of management responsibilities;

*  the Group Management Report,

Based on the following procedures pertormed, we conclude that the other information:

*+ 15 consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements;

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained
thtough our audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the
other information contains material misstatcments,

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of
the Durch Civil Code and the Durch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed
is substantially less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial
statements.

Management is responsible for the preparation of the Group Management Report.
C. Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements

Responsibilities of management and the supervisory board for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
staternents in accordance with EU-TFRS. Furthermore management is responsible for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

As part of the preparation of the financial srarements, management is responsible for
assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial
reporting framework mentioned, management should prepare the financial statements using
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the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternarive bur to do so.

Management should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements .

QOur Responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us o
obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Qur audit has been performed with a high, buc not absolute, level of assurance, which
means we may not have detected all errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users tuken on the basis of these financial statements. The materiality atfects the nature,
timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified
misstatements on our opinion.

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional skepticism
throughout the audit, in accordance with Durch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements
and independence requirements. Qur audic included e.g.:

*  ldentdfying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, designing and pertorming audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulung from error, as fraud may mnvolve collusion,
torgery, intentional ornissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

*  Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the ciccumstances, but not tor the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control;

*  Lvaluating the appropriateness of accountng policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting cstimatcs and rclated disclosurcs made by management;

»  Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that mayv cast significant doubt on the company™s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainoy exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the relared disclosures in rhe
financial statements o, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obrained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or concditions may cause a company to cease to continuce

as a going concern,

*  Ewvaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,

including the disclosures; and

*  Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the undertlving transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we arc also responsible for directing,
supervising and performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the narure
and extent of the audit procedures to be carried our for group entties. Decisive were the
size and/or the tisk profile of the group entities or operations. On this basis, we selected
group entities for which an audit or review had to be carried out on the complete set of
financial information or specific items.

We communicate with those chatged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audir findings, including any
significant findings in internal conerol that we identify during our audit.

Amsterdam, December 16, 2022

Grant Thornton Accountants en Adviscurs BV,

M.].J. Welsink RA
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